

1

# Genomic investigations of successful invasions: the picture emerging from recent studies

Joanna Kołodziejczyk<sup>1,\*</sup>, Anna Fijarczyk<sup>2,3,4</sup>, Ilga Porth<sup>4,5,6</sup>, Piotr Robakowski<sup>7</sup>, Noel Vella<sup>8</sup>, Adriana Vella<sup>8</sup>, Agnieszka Kloch<sup>9</sup> and Aleksandra Biedrzycka<sup>1,\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Nature Conservation, Polish Academy of Sciences, Mickiewicza 33, Kraków 31-120, Poland

<sup>2</sup>Natural Resources Canada, Laurentian Forestry Centre, 1055 Rue du Peps, Québec City, Quebec G1V 4C7, Canada

<sup>3</sup>Department of Biology, Laval University, 1045 Avenue de la Médecine, Québec City, Quebec G1V 0A6, Canada

<sup>4</sup>Institute of Integrative Biology and Systems, Laval University, 1030 Avenue de La Médecine, Québec City, Quebec G1V 0A6, Canada

<sup>5</sup>Department of Wood and Forest Sciences, Laval University, 1030 Avenue de La Médecine, Québec City, Quebec G1V 0A6, Canada

<sup>6</sup>Centre for Forest Research, Laval University, 2405 Rue de La Terrasse, Québec City, Quebec G1V 0A6, Canada

<sup>7</sup>Faculty of Forestry and Wood Technology, Poznań University of Life Sciences, 71E Wojska Polskiego Street, Poznań PL 60-625, Poland

<sup>8</sup>Conservation Biology Research Group, Department of Biology, University of Malta, Msida MSD2080, Malta

<sup>9</sup>Faculty of Biology, University of Warsaw, Miecznikowa 1, Warsaw 02-089, Poland

#### ABSTRACT

Invasion biology aims to identify traits and mechanisms that contribute to successful invasions, while also providing general insights into the mechanisms underlying population expansion and adaptation to rapid climate and habitat changes. Certain phenotypic attributes have been linked to successful invasions, and the role of genetics has been critical in understanding adaptation of invasive species. Nevertheless, a comprehensive summary evaluating the most common evolutionary mechanisms associated with successful invasions across species and environments is still lacking. Here we present a systematic review of studies since 2015 that have applied genomic tools to investigate mechanisms of successful invasions across different organisms. We examine demographic patterns such as changes in genomic diversity at the population level, the presence of genetic bottlenecks and gene flow in the invasive range. We review mechanisms of adaptation such as selection from standing genetic variation and *de novo* mutations, hybridisation and introgression, all of which can have an impact on invasion success. This comprehensive review of recent articles on the genomic diversity of invasive species led to the creation of a searchable database to provide researchers with an accessible resource. Analysis of this database allowed quantitative assessment of demographic and adaptive mechanisms acting in invasive species. A predominant role of admixture in increasing levels of genetic diversity enabling molecular adaptation in novel habitats is the most important finding of our study. The "genetic paradox" of invasive species was not validated in genomic data across species and ecosystems. Even though the presence of genetic drift and bottlenecks is commonly reported upon invasion, a large reduction in genomic diversity is rarely observed. Any decrease in genetic diversity is often relatively mild and almost always restored via gene flow between different invasive populations. The fact that loci under selection are frequently detected suggests that adaptation to novel habitats on a molecular level is not hindered. The above findings are confirmed herein for the first time in a semi-quantitative manner by molecular data. We also point to gaps and potential improvements in the design of studies of mechanisms driving rapid molecular adaptation in invasive populations. These include the scarcity of comprehensive studies that include sampling from multiple native and invasive populations, identification of invasion sources, longitudinal population sampling, and the integration of fitness measures into genomic analyses. We also note that the potential of whole genome studies is often not exploited fully in predicting invasive potential. Comparative genomic studies identifying genome features promoting invasions are underrepresented despite their potential for use as a tool in invasive species control.

<sup>\*</sup> Authors for correspondence: J. Kołodziejczyk (Tel.: +48123703549; E-mail: kolodziejczyk@iop.krakow.pl) and A. Biedrzycka (Tel.: +48123703553; E-mail: biedrzycka@iop.krakow.pl).

*Biological Reviews* (2025) 000–000 © 2025 The Author(s). *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

Key words: biological invasions, invasive species, adaptation, admixture, selection, next-generation sequencing, genomic diversity.

#### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	,
II.	Methods	ŝ
III.	Summary of collected studies	ŀ
	(1) Taxonomy	
<b>TX</b> 7	(3) Applied methods	,
IV.	Genomic diversity change and the level of diversity	)
	(1) The level of genetic diversity: does genetic diversity decrease in invasive populations?	)
	(2) The role of demographic factors: do invasive populations experience bottleneck/drift? 6	)
	(3) The role of admixture and introgression: do invasive populations experience gene flow?	;
	(4) The role of mutation load on invasion success: do invasive populations carry a mutation load? 8	3
V.	Genomic footprint of adaptation	3
	(1) Preintroduction adaptation	3
	(2) Adaptation in the invasive range	
	(a) Sources of genetic diversity: standing genetic variation, <i>de novo</i> mutations and presence of selective	
	sweeps 11	
	(b) Selection footprints in the invasive range	)
	(c) Factors creating genomic diversity in populations showing adaptive changes in the invasive range 12	) ,
	(d) Genes under selection	ť
VI.	Contributions of different genomic changes in invasive species	ť
VII.	Non-genetic factors contributing to invasion	;
VIII.	Discussion and future directions	;
IX.	Conclusions	3
X	References 18	s
XI	Supporting information 23	2
	Supporting morning of the second se	1

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Present-day ecosystems are exposed to many threats from organisms that establish populations outside their natural range. While the transportation of live organisms around the world has increased dramatically since the beginning of the Industrial Revolution and is still on the rise (Bellard, Cassey & Blackburn, 2016; Zenetos & Galanidi, 2020), only some alien species become invasive (Mack et al., 2000; Seebens et al., 2017; Williamson & Fitter, 1996). According to the IUCN definition, invasive alien species are species that cause severe ecological or economic damage, with documented ecosystem impacts ranging from habitat destruction and disease transmission to displacement or even extinction of native species (Dueñas et al., 2021; Fortič et al., 2023; Molnar et al., 2008). Therefore, a major focus in invasion biology is to identify mechanisms that contribute to invasion success (Fournier et al., 2019; Parker et al., 2013). Predicting which species are likely to become invaders before their introduction outside their native range has been a prime objective of invasion biology. The comparison of phenotypic features of native and invasive populations has enabled the identification of intraspecific differences in phenotypes that facilitate invasion success (Hiatt & Flory, 2020). Native and invasive phenotypes arise from the interaction between genotype

and environment in their respective populations and the impact of stochastic events. Therefore, examining phenotypic, genetic, and ecological differences across native and invaded environments is essential for understanding the mechanisms driving successful invasions.

In addition to the practical value of genetic studies for informing invasive species management, research uncovering invasive traits offers broader insights into the mechanisms of population expansion and adaptation to rapid climate and habitat change (Moran & Alexander, 2014). The most frequently cited hypotheses explaining invasion success highlight the roles of transport opportunity, propagule pressure, habitat matching, fecundity and population size as prerequisites and accelerators of species invasions. Invasive species often have significantly higher values for performance-related traits, better dispersal abilities, and shorter generation times compared to native species (Jeschke, 2014).

Species with low adaptive potential, that is a limited ability to respond to selection through phenotypic changes, face reduced chances of survival in new environments (Lande & Shannon, 1996; Merilä & Hendry, 2014). Adaptive potential and species ability to evolve depends on the level of genomic diversity (Day, 2015). While ecological factors are key determinants for invasion success, the role of genetics has been more challenging to demonstrate. Invasions are often

characterised by a "genetic paradox": despite reductions of genetic diversity during population establishment from a limited number of founding individuals, invasive species typically show high capability to adapt to novel conditions that sometimes allows them to outperform native species (Dlugosch et al., 2015; Estoup et al., 2016). This can be partially explained by reduced environmental pressure, for example resulting from release from natural enemies (Brian & Catford, 2023). On the other hand, admixture of phylogenetically divergent populations coming into contact in the invasive range can restore genetic diversity. Genomics of invasive species can be leveraged to identify populations of origin and invasion routes, and to estimate the timing of invasion and associated demographic bottlenecks, potentially identifying sources creating high levels of genetic diversity in invasive populations. Further, genomics can be employed to assess the role of pre-existing adaptation on facilitating invasion, and to identify the occurrence of in situ adaptations following invasion (North, McGaughran & Jiggins, 2021; Roe et al., 2019). Balancing selection can facilitate maintenance of genetic variants important for adaptation to new conditions. New selective pressures can lead to selection of genetic variants acquired either before or after arrival in the invasive range. The latter can occur via admixture or introgression from other species or via mutations. Indeed, rapid adaptation is proposed to be crucial for the long-term success of invasive species (Dlugosch & Parker, 2008; Lee, 2002; Rollins et al., 2013; Stern & Lee, 2020).

The importance of studying the genetics of biological invasions has been recognised for decades (Baker & Stebbins, 1965; Gray, 1986). During this period, numerous reviews have summarised the mechanisms that are prerequisites for creating and maintaining the levels of genetic diversity allowing for rapid adaptation and successful invasion. Despite many years of study, we still lack a comprehensive summary evaluating most common genetic mechanisms associated with successful invasion across species and environments. Crucial factors facilitating invasion at the level of genetic diversity were reviewed by Bock et al. (2015) and Dlugosch et al. (2015) before the genomics era. Technological and analytical advancements in the field of genomics have since transformed biological research and contributed significantly to unravelling the evolutionary basis of the success of invasive species (Jaspers et al., 2021). The newest reviews referring to technological advances in studying the genomics of invasive species (McGaughran et al., 2024; North et al., 2021) present the current state of knowledge and future perspectives, but do not synthesise the numerous research findings to resolve the mechanisms involved in species invasions using genomic data. The number of articles utilising genomic methods to pinpoint or suggest different evolutionary mechanisms explaining the successful invasion of different species is growing rapidly.

Here we present a systematic review of studies that have accumulated since 2015 and that applied genomic tools to investigate mechanisms of successful invasions in fungi, plants, insects, and vertebrates. We address hypotheses related to mechanisms of species invasions and evaluate the frequency with which they appear in recent genomics literature. We focus on the main patterns associated with invasions, including changes in genetic diversity at the population level induced by demographic factors such as genetic bottlenecks or gene flow in the invasive range, as well as the evolutionary processes enabling adaptation, such as selection and adaptive introgression that are often related to invasion success. We examine the extent to which different invasion mechanisms have been studied across ecosystems. The objectives of this review include: (i) identifying the frequency of molecular footprints of adaptation in invasive populations and investigating whether specific selection events in the native species range are linked to their adaptation in the invasive range; (ii) determining the impact of demographic mechanisms that increase the levels of genomic diversity, such as admixture of divergent populations and interspecies hybridisation, in successful invasive populations; (iii) determining the impact of demographic mechanisms that reduce the levels of genomic diversity, such as genetic drift and bottlenecks, in invasive populations; (iv) identifying how often the levels of genetic diversity have been studied in the context of native populations and invasion routes; (v) analysing the genome characteristics associated with invasion success; and (vi) unravelling how often studies performed in a genetic context reported non-genetic factors as responsible for successful invasion.

As a result of this systematic review of articles on genomic diversity of invasive species, we also created a searchable database that can be used by future investigators.

#### **II. METHODS**

Our review followed a systematic review methodology according to the Collaboration for Environmental Evidence guidelines https://environmentalevidence.org/standardstable/. Published studies were identified by searching the Web of Science v.5.22.1 (https://www.webofscience.com/ wos/) database with search years including articles published in 2015–2023. The specific search strings, the criteria for accepting articles and the methodology for extracting information for inclusion in our database, as well as a summary of the search is given as online Supporting Information in Appendix S1. The final collection of articles was assessed by reading the full text. While performing the text screening, we relied on the information and interpretation of results provided by the article authors. Therefore, the information that the genetic diversity was "high" or "low" or whether there was a decrease or increase in genetic diversity is based solely on the interpretation given in each article. Database S1 provides our full data set of all included articles, and the information collected from each article. Table 1 provides a glossary explaining population genetics terms in relation to species invasions.

Term	Definition
Adaptive introgression	The transfer by introgression of relatively small genomic regions from a donor species that have positive fitness consequences in the recipient species. Contact between related, but previously isolated, species that occurs after invasion outside a species' natural range may result in adaptive introgression increasing the adaptive potential of invasive species.
Additive genetic variance	The total effect of loci measurably contributing to the trait.
Admixture	The process of mixing genetically distinct populations resulting in exchange of genetic variants between those populations. Multiple introductions of divergent invasive populations may result in increased overall genetic diversity.
Balancing selection	Natural selection that maintains genetic variation within a population by preserving multiple alleles at a particular locus. Refers to any type of selection that maintains genetic variance in a population, such as frequency-dependent selection, temporally or spatially fluctuating selection, and overdominance. Under appropriate conditions, temporally fluctuating selection could promote the accumulation and maintenance of genetic variation in the native range allowing faster adaptation in the invasive range.
Bottleneck	A sudden reduction in population size (demographic bottleneck), resulting in a reduction of genetic diversity (genetic bottleneck), occurring over one or few generations or a longer period. Bottleneck can act as a selective force when deleterious alleles are stochastically removed and the prevalence of adaptive alleles increases.
Bridgehead effect	Occurs when particular invasive population/populations are invasion sources for other invasive populations due to secondary introductions
Directional selection	Natural selection where certain alleles are promoted, leading to diminishing genetic diversity in particular loci. Directional selection is expected to occur during population expansion into new environments as a result of response to povel environmental variables.
Genetic drift	Random change in allele frequencies following the colonization of a new range resulting in the loss of genetic diversity and random shifts in allele frequencies.
Effective population size	The number of individuals breeding in the population. Quantifies the magnitude of genetic drift and inbreeding in real-world populations. Range expansions during invasions should result reduced effective population size ( <i>N</i> ) due to strong effects of genetic drift.
Founder event	Establishment of a population from a small number of individuals resulting in a loss of genetic diversity and change in allele frequencies relative to the source population
Genetic redundancy	A situation in which two or more genes encode a particular function. In the case of a deleterious mutation in one of those genes, the mutation effect on fitness is lower than expected.
Hard selective sweep	A pattern of genetic diversity when a single adaptive haplotype rises to high population frequency. Usually a result of a major effect mutation that arises on a single haplotype in a population and ultimately reaches fixation. As a consequence, the expected haplotype homozygosity surrounding the selected site is high.
Hybridization	Mating of individuals from different species or genetically distinct populations, leading to offspring with mixed genetic ancestries.
Introgression	An effect of hybridization when a foreign variant is permanently incorporated in the local gene pool through back-crossing.
Mitogenome	The mitochondrial genome.
Polygenic adaptation	A type of adaptation where many loci, each of small effect, contribute to the phenotype. Response to selection is caused by small frequency shifts of many alleles.
Selective sweep	Increase in frequency of favoured alleles caused by selection.
Soft selective sweep	A pattern of genetic diversity when multiple alleles at the same locus become favoured and their frequency increases. Can originate from standing genetic variation that becomes beneficial in a changing environment, or new recurrent <i>de novo</i> adaptive mutations. In the case of invasive populations, genetic variation carried from native range may become beneficial in the invasive range resulting in a soft sweep. Soft sweeps do not reduce genetic diversity around the beneficial mutation to the same extent as hard sweeps and may resemble patterns expected under neutrality.
Standing genetic variation	The genetic variation present in the population, as such constituting a source of variation on which selection can act more rapidly than on new mutations. In the case of invasive species is usually defined as genetic variation transferred from the native range.

Table 1. Glossary of population genetics terms used herein in relation to species invasions.

### **III. SUMMARY OF COLLECTED STUDIES**

### (1) Taxonomy

Our search retrieved studies of species belonging to the kingdoms Animalia, Plantae and Fungi, with the highest proportion being animal species (Fig. 1A). Among these, the most represented phyla were Vertebrata and Arthropoda. Plant species were less represented, while only four studies focused on Fungi. Terrestrial animals were studied most frequently, followed by aquatic animals and terrestrial plants (Fig. 1B).







(Figure 1 legend continues on next page.)

Biological Reviews (2025) 000-000 © 2025 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

#### (2) Types of studies

The search resulted in a database of 120 papers further classified into 101 "population studies" (i.e. analysing genetic diversity of invasive and/or native populations) and 19 genome, transcriptome, or genome and transcriptome analyses, which examined single/several genomes or transcriptomes of invasive species in the context of invasion. Twenty-four population studies also included genome/transcriptome analyses. Among the population studies, the most frequent topics investigated were selection processes in the invasive range and demographic events describing invasion (invasion sources and routes; number of invasions). Admixture between different invasive populations was more frequently a focus of study than hybridisation with other species and the majority of research related the analysis to native source populations (Fig. 1C-E).

#### (3) Applied methods

The sequencing methods used in a study determine the analytical approach that can be applied and the types of questions that can be addressed. Nearly half of the selected studies (57/120 studies) were based on reduced representation sequencing (RRS) methods. In population studies, 21/120 studies conducted whole genome sequencing (WGS) and nine/120 pooled sequencing (PoolSeq), with the remaining studies using less-common methods. Only 26/120 studies leveraged at least one whole genome sequence assembly, and five studies used transcriptome assembly for their analyses. The number of studies employing genomic methods has changed over time with a recent increase in the number of studies using WGS and RRS (Fig. 2).

# IV. GENOMIC DIVERSITY CHANGE AND THE LEVEL OF DIVERSITY

# (1) The level of genetic diversity: does genetic diversity decrease in invasive populations?

Previous reviews found contrasting trends in the levels of genetic diversity in invasive populations. These surveys analysing the genetic diversity of wild populations in an invasion context were performed before the genomic era, and therefore analysed studies mostly investigating a small number of traditional, presumably neutral markers (allozymes, microsatellites, mitochondrial, etc.). Two such analyses found that 69% of invasive plants (Bossdorf *et al.*, 2005) and 63% of aquatic invaders (Roman & Darling, 2007) had levels of genetic diversity equal to or even greater than native populations. By contrast, Uller & Leimu (2011) reported moderate reductions in genetic diversity for the majority of invasive species. Using a limited number of neutral markers may lead to inadequate estimation of genetic diversity or missing information from ecologically relevant regions of the genome. A comprehensive assessment of genomic diversity is the most representative predictor of a species' evolutionary potential.

Out of the 101 population studies retrieved by our search, 62 analysed both native and invasive ranges. A comparison of genetic diversity levels in native and invasive ranges was provided in 51 studies out of these 62, but a statistical comparison of genomic diversity levels between source and invasive populations often was missing. There was, however, a clear pattern that statements of a reduction in genomic diversity in invasive populations are infrequent. We subdivided the studies into those stating that invasive populations show decreased genomic diversity (19/101) and those declaring that genetic diversity was maintained (here we combined articles reporting an increase, stable level or minor decrease of genetic diversity as stated by the authors; 43/101; Fig. 1G). In the remaining studies (39/101), no comparison of diversity levels between native and invasive ranges was performed, but in the majority of these, the level of diversity was indicated as high with only eight studies reporting low diversity in invasive populations. These findings are in line with previous results showing that the "genetic paradox" is not a general phenomenon in invasive species. Many studies did not assess genomic diversity levels at different invasion stages, with the majority performing sampling of native and invasive ranges at one time-point only. Sampling of genomic diversity across a time series in invasive ranges would allow assessment of diversity loss as a result of population establishment from a limited number of founders and to what extent it can be restored with time. Such data would also allow researchers to assess the speed of evolutionary changes at different invasion stages.

# (2) The role of demographic factors: do invasive populations experience bottleneck/drift?

Despite the high levels of genetic diversity reported in the majority of studies (Fig. 1G), both genetic drift (detected in 47 of 101 studies), and bottlenecks (56 of 101 studies) were reported relatively frequently (Figs 1F, 3). Our approach

<sup>(</sup>Figure legend continued from previous page.)

**Fig. 1.** (A) Number of publications identified by our search terms according to kingdom. (B) Number of publications in different kingdoms in terrestrial *versus* aquatic habitats. (C) Publications studying selection occurring pre- and post-introduction into the invasive range. (D) Publications studying admixture and hybridisation. (E) Publications studying source of invasion and the number of invasions. (F) Publications measuring genetic bottlenecks and/or genetic drift. (G) Publications assessing the change in genomic diversity between native and invasive ranges and/or quantifying the level of genomic diversity. Genomic diversity is categorised as: maintained = moderate decrease, no change, or increase in comparison with native populations; or decreased = marked decrease in comparison with native populations. Genomic diversity in the invasive range is categorised as: high = reported as high in the invasive range; or low = reported as low in the invasive range. Classification as high or low and maintained or decreased is based solely on the interpretation of the authors of each study.

![](_page_6_Figure_1.jpeg)

Fig. 2. Genomic methods applied in the studies included in our database for the period 2015–2022. CGH, comparative genetic hybridisation; DE, differential gene expression; MSAP, methylation sensitive amplified polymorphisms; RRS, reduced representation sequencing; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphism; WGS, whole genome sequencing.

![](_page_6_Figure_3.jpeg)

**Fig. 3.** Demographic factors shaping genetic diversity in invasive populations: (A) the percentage of articles detecting the presence of genetic bottleneck and/or genetic drift (both or one of the mechanisms was assessed in the article) or their absence (none of the mechanisms was confirmed in the article), and the percentage of articles where genetic diversity of invasive populations was assessed by the authors of each article as high or low; (B) the percentage of articles where admixture was reported or not, the percentage of articles detecting the presence of genetic bottleneck and/or genetic drift or not and the percentage of articles where genetic diversity of invasive populations was assessed by the article authors as high or low. Empty regions reflect a lack of information in the analysed articles. ADM, presence of admixture; B/D, presence of genetic bottleneck and/or genetic diversity in invasive populations; LD, low level of genetic diversity in invasive populations; NO ADM, absence of admixture; NO B/D, absence of genetic bottleneck and genetic drift.

relied on identifying specific key words when screening the text, and we note that some authors used one term but not the other. In most cases high levels of genetic diversity were restored by admixture between populations (Fig. 3B), recurrent invasions or the presence of bridgehead populations or introgression from other species. In several studies a lack of bottleneck signal was attributed to high propagule pressure during establishment in the invasive range (Chen et al., 2021a; Goubert et al., 2017) or to interspecific hybridisation before invasion (Burford Reiskind et al., 2019; Popovic et al., 2021). Bottlenecks can increase variation for quantitative traits by changing the relative magnitude of the genetic variances component, leading in some cases to an increase and allowing rapid evolutionary change in newly established populations (Turelli & Barton, 2006). Deleterious variants that have a higher probability of exposure in homozygotes after a population bottleneck can be purged more effectively from the population (Rius et al., 2015). It has been suggested that bottlenecks can also act to increase additive genetic variance for traits with a non-additive genetic basis (Mularo, Bernal & DeWoody, 2022). Increased genetic variance resulting from a bottleneck was suggested in Agarophyton vermiculophyllum (Ohmi) populations (Flanagan et al., 2021) that rapidly evolved greater tolerance to acute high temperatures and low salinities in the invasive range (Sotka et al., 2018).

Although the occurrence of bottlenecks is frequently reported, the studies in our database lack time-series estimates that would enable precise detection of the timing of the event, the quantification of the impact of specific admixture events, and the interplay between these two factors.

## (3) The role of admixture and introgression: do invasive populations experience gene flow?

Admixture between genetically divergent populations increases overall diversity and may foster genetic interactions among previously isolated alleles, allowing higher fitness of admixed populations and increasing the adaptive evolution of novel genotypes (Wagner et al., 2017). The majority (61/80 studies studying admixture) demonstrated ongoing admixture at different stages of the invasion leading to increased genetic diversity (Fig. 3B). Only 20 out of all 101 population studies of studies reported no admixture and 19 out of 80 studies studying admixture reported a lack of significant change in the level of genomic diversity as an effect of admixture. Among these 19, high levels of diversity resulted from interspecific introgression or hybridisation in the native range. Therefore, an important finding of our survey is that admixture of invasive populations that substantially mitigates the effects of genetic drift and bottlenecks is extremely widespread (Figs 3B, 4). It appears that admixture of multiple invasive populations and, to some extent, interspecific introgression are the main mechanisms maintaining and increasing genomic diversity of invasive populations. Some studies have questioned the association between admixture and invasion success and its contribution to increased fitness of invaders (Chapple et al., 2013; Dutech

et al., 2012; Wolfe, Blair & Penna, 2007). Nevertheless, the great majority of our surveyed studies identify admixture between populations as a significant process increasing genetic diversity and invasion success. One of the major unresolved questions in invasion genomics is whether, and to what extent, admixture is a cause or a result of successful establishment of invasive species, in particular when multiple invasions occur. These scenarios are non-mutually exclusive, but with careful study design or temporal sampling, genomics can be used to answer such questions. For example, population genomics can be used to infer the timing of admixture events, selective sweeps of introgressed genes, and demographic expansions, while experimental approaches, such as common garden experiments, can be used to compare the fitness of admixed *versus* non-admixed invaders.

## (4) The role of mutation load on invasion success: do invasive populations carry a mutation load?

Further evidence for the lack of a "genetic paradox" is the absence of mutational load in invasive populations. Reduced effective population size during invasions may lead to inbreeding (Fauvergue et al., 2012), which increases the homozygosity of segregating deleterious recessive alleles (i.e. genetic load) leading to a loss of fitness (i.e. inbreeding depression; Charlesworth & Willis, 2009). Additionally, in small populations, the frequency of deleterious alleles may increase stochastically (i.e. drift load), compromising fitness (Willi, Griffin & Van Buskirk, 2013). However, the genetic load in newly established invasive populations can be rapidly reduced by selection (Lacy & Ballou, 1998), admixture between populations from multiple introductions, or hybridisation in the new range. Rare deleterious alleles, usually present at low frequencies, can also be lost as a result of bottleneck upon introduction (Nei, Maruyama & Chakraborty, 1975). In fact, only two studies in our database suggested the possibility of genetic load in the genomic data. An analysis of the genomes of five Asteraceae species showed a greater proportion of deleterious alleles in the genome in the invasive range for one species, while the remaining species had a higher number of deleterious alleles in the native range (Hodgins et al., 2015). The other study, analysing genome-wide diversity of two hybridising invasive species Cakile edentula and Cakile maritima predicted a greater fixation rate of weakly deleterious alleles in C. edentula due to its higher level of inbreeding (Rosinger et al., 2021). The low number of recovered studies investigating genetic load reflects the rarity of whole-genome sequencing of large invasive populations coupled with fitness measurements.

### V. GENOMIC FOOTPRINT OF ADAPTATION

#### (1) Preintroduction adaptation

One important consideration when analysing invasion success is the level of standing genetic variation available in

![](_page_8_Figure_1.jpeg)

**Fig. 4.** Demographic factors shaping genetic diversity in invasive populations. Percentage of articles detecting the presence of genetic bottleneck and/or genetic drift (both or one of the mechanisms was assessed in the article) or its absence (none of the mechanisms was confirmed in the article), the percentage of articles where either single or multiple introductions were detected and the percentage of articles where genetic diversity of invasive populations was assessed by the authors of each article as high or low. Empty regions reflect a lack of information in the analysed articles. B/D, presence of genetic bottleneck and/or genetic drift; HD, high level of genetic diversity in invasive populations; LD, low level of genetic diversity in invasive populations; MULTIPLE, detection of more than one event of introduction; NO B/D, absence of genetic bottleneck and genetic drift; SINGLE, detection of one introduction.

invasive populations that can be leveraged during adaptation to novel habitats.

A fluctuating environment in the native range promotes the maintenance of multiple genetic variants (Lee & Gelembiuk, 2008). Diversity can in turn serve as a catalyst for selection in response to novel habitat conditions (Stern & Lee, 2020; Vera, Díez-del-Molino & García-Marín, 2016). Studies of genes shaped by balancing selection in both native and invasive habitats suggest that the retention of multiple variants of specific genes may be more important for survival of native and invasive populations than generally high levels of diversity across the genome (Vera *et al.*, 2016). This was shown to be the case for immune genes in native and invasive populations of the common raccoon (*Procyon lotor*) (Konopiński, Fijarczyk & Biedrzycka, 2023) where maintaining multiple variants provided protection from various pathogens.

High levels of adaptive genetic diversity in the invasive range can also be maintained by diversifying selection acting on the same loci as in the native range (Burford Reiskind et al., 2019; Goubert et al., 2017; Krzemińska et al., 2018). This special case of diversifying selection occurs when environmentally important traits have a polygenic background. Temperature adaptation is a welldocumented polygenic trait and it can operate through different combinations of loci. Differentiated frequencies of "cold-adapted" variants favoured at lower temperatures and "warm-adapted" variants at higher temperatures reflect adaptation over a relatively short timescale and show that genetic variation that evolved in the native habitat is a primary factor allowing rapid adaptation across a thermal gradient in a new habitat (Barghi et al., 2019; Krehenwinkel, Rödder & Tautz, 2015; Popovic & Riginos, 2020; Yang et al., 2022). This suggests that invasion bottlenecks have a limited capacity to attenuate polygenic traits. The genetic redundancy resulting from polygenic adaptation may be an important mechanism facilitating adaptation in invasive species (Láruson, Yeaman & Lotterhos, 2020). Among population studies ( $\mathcal{N} = 101$ ), we identified 62% that included

1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/brv.70005 by Instytut Ochrony Przyrodyon, Wiley Online Library on [17/02/2025]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ems-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

both native and invasive populations, 35% that studied only invasive populations, while in three studies only native populations were analysed. Only 15% of population studies focused on selection footprints in both native and invasive populations (Fig. 1C), where mechanisms in native populations were investigated for their role in facilitating adaptation in invasive

populations. Examples of mechanisms responsible for creating adaptive genomic diversity in native habitats that contributed to the diversity increase upon introduction in the invasive ranges are listed in Table 2.

Although the importance of adaptation in the native habitat has been acknowledged by a number of studies, the exact

Table 2. Examples of different selection mechanisms acting in the native range that may contribute to diversity increase upon invasion.

		Examples	References
Mechanisms promoting maintenance of high levels of diversity	Balancing selection	<ul> <li>Balancing selection in the native habitat that is driven by fluctuating environmental conditions and followed by directional selection in the invasive range. In the copepod Eurytemora affinis, salinity fluctuations in the native environment and short, overlapping generations foster balancing selection (Stern &amp; Lee, 2020). Directional selection occurred in the invasive populations at ion transport genes, which were under balancing selection in the native habitat.</li> <li>Balancing selection in both the native and invasive range, maintaining multiple variants of specific genes. In Eastern mosquitofish, Gambusia holbrooki (Vera et al., 2016) genes related to reproduction, growth and development were under balancing selection in both the native and invasive range despite a clear reduction in genetic diversity. In common raccoon (Konopiński et al., 2023) single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) located in several immune genes were maintained under balancing selection in native and invasive range.</li> </ul>	Stern & Lee (2020); Konopiński <i>et al.</i> (2023); Vera <i>et al.</i> (2016); Mittan- Moreau <i>et al.</i> (2022)
	Sharing SGV (standing genetic variation) and gene reuse	g SGV (standing gene reuse Rapid and repeatable phenotypic and genomic adaptation in the native and invasive habitats of common ragweed Ambrosia artenisiifolia. Candidate adaptation loci overlapped between ranges. The consistency in habitat characteristics between native and invasive ranges suggests that shared standing genetic variation could increase the probability of gene reuse during rapid loca adaptation (van Boheamen & Hadering, 2020)	van Boheemen & Hodgins (2020)
	Polygenicity	Polygenic adaptation to temperature in potato ground beetle (Yang et al., 2022) and European green crab (Tepolt & Palumbi, 2020). High temperature tolerance in European green crab ( <i>Carcinus maenas</i> ) can explain its worldwide invasiveness. Differentiated frequencies of "cold-adapted" and "warm-adapted" variants in different temperatures reflect adaptation on a short timescale and show that genetic variation that evolved in native habitat is a primary factor allowing rapid adaptation across a thermal gradient in its new habitat.	Yang et al. (2022); Tepolt & Palumbi (2020)
Mechanisms promoting s diversifying selection	specific variants:	<ul> <li>Differential diversifying selection acting at the same loci in native and invasive ranges. Found in genes putatively related to boldness and anxiety behaviours, reproduction, and food intake suppression in the red lionfish (<i>Pterois volitans</i>) (Burford Reiskind et al., 2019). In Asian tiger mosquito (<i>Aedes albopictus</i>) reported in genes related to lipid metabolism and juvenile hormone-binding protein (Goubert et al., 2017).</li> <li>Diversifying selection in the native range followed by directional selection in the invasive range. In house crow (<i>Corvus splendens</i>) reported in genes related to environmental adaptation</li> </ul>	Burford Reiskind <i>et al.</i> (2019); Lin <i>et al.</i> (2017); Konopiński <i>et al.</i> (2023); Goubert <i>et al.</i> (2017); Tepolt & Palumbi (2020); Krzemińska <i>et al.</i> (2018)
Unspecified mechanism		Allele frequency change between native and introduced populations. Studies do not specify the selection footprint, only report specific outlier loci in both ranges.	Merel et al. (2021); Narum et al. (2017); Flanagan et al. (2021); Helliwell et al. (2018)

Biological Reviews (2025) 000-000 © 2025 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

causes of its presence are sometimes difficult to identify. For example, within the native and invasive ranges of the house crow (Corvus splendens), signatures of natural selection were detected in the mitogenome, but these were associated both with lineage diversification and recent adaptation to environmental conditions (Krzemińska et al., 2018). In the invasive Asian tiger mosquito (Aedes albopictus), adaptive genetic and morphometric variation observed along the climatic gradient of the native range suggests that colonisation of northern latitudes promoted adaptation to cold environments prior to its worldwide invasion (Sherpa, Blum & Després, 2019b). Another genomic study on A. albopictus invasion (Goubert et al., 2017) found selection footprints both in native and invasive populations, but it was impossible to delineate whether these were related to adaptations prior to invasion or were a recent shift in allele frequencies that reflects adaptations to cooler invasive habitats.

Adaptations that evolve in the native range are often affected by genetic drift upon establishment of invasive populations. A joint effect of demographic and selective forces affecting levels of genetic diversity and allele frequency change was observed in 9 out of 14 articles studying invasive and native populations where both selection and genomic drift were identified. In all but one of those cases, loss of genetic diversity was counteracted by gene flow between differentiated source populations in the invasive range. For example, in Chinook salmon (Oncorhynchus tshawytscha) (Narum et al., 2017), exposure to novel pathogens in native populations resulted in selection on immune-related single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) but the observed genomic pattern was then erased by genetic drift and gene exchange between different source populations in the introduced environments. Despite clear evidence of the presence of adaptive alleles in the native range and transmission of this genetic diversity into the invasive range, associations that should arise in the invasive range are sometimes not observed, suggesting the loss of adaptive capacity. For example, populations of sweet vernal grass (Anthoxanthum odoratum) were adapted to soil aluminium toxicity in their native range, but not invasive range, despite the presence of specific allelic variants (Gould & Gerber, 2016). This lack of association could be explained by genetic linkage or genetic background effects that may be different in the native and introduced ranges.

Findings from the studies linking pre-introduction adaptation in the native range with increased invasion ability illustrate the significance of prior adaptation for invasion success in new habitats. However, the number of such studies is limited and there are several reasons why we lack evidence. First, to detect such associations, the identification of source populations of an invasion is necessary. Further, both native and invasive populations must be sampled and sequenced. Precise demographic inferences, such as population substructure in both ranges, changes in effective population sizes, and levels of gene flow in both native and invasive populations also need to be estimated (Teshima, Coop & Przeworski, 2006). Additionally, the appropriate statistical measures that take into account demographic events must be applied, especially in the case of balancing selection. When detecting multiple variants at intermediate frequencies at the population level, the results can be confounded by demographic processes. Moreover, the effects of selection, both in native and invasive populations, ideally should be experimentally tested or associated with environmental variables to demonstrate adaptation.

#### (2) Adaptation in the invasive range

Once a species has invaded, adaptation in the invasive habitat enhances its ability to persist and thrive by rapidly shifting its ecological niche to match the new environment better (Sultan *et al.*, 2013; Vandepitte *et al.*, 2014). Rapid acclimation to the new ecological niche can be realised by phenotypic plasticity (Promy, Newberry & Gulisija, 2023; Uller & Leimu, 2011) or direct genetic changes altering functional diversity resulting from natural selection. Here, we focus on genomic mechanisms enabling adaptation. We analyse sources of variation and processes creating genomic diversity, different selection footprints, and signatures of recent selection.

## (a) Sources of genetic diversity: standing genetic variation, de novo mutations and presence of selective sweeps

Evolution requires genetic diversity (Clarke, 1979). Selection in the invasive range may act on new mutations or on standing genetic variation (Barrett & Schluter, 2008), leaving a different pattern in the genome. A novel, large-effect mutation that arises on a single haplotype in a population and ultimately reaches fixation creates a pattern of hard selective sweep. Soft sweeps generally refer to scenarios in which multiple haplotypes carry a beneficial variant that was present in the native range as standing genetic variation (Hernández et al., 2011). To date, mounting evidence indicates that although hard selective sweeps are easier to detect in the genome than soft selective sweeps, they might not be the dominant mode of adaptation in many species. Further, identifying the relative contribution of standing versus de novo variation to rapid adaptation of invasive species is difficult, as high genomic marker density and reference genome contiguity are required for the identification of *de novo* variation. The degree to which beneficial de novo mutations can impact invasion success over the short timescale of invasion is also unclear (Pélissié et al., 2018). In our search we did not locate any study that clearly confirmed the presence of adaptive de novo genetic diversity that arose in the invasive range and allowed adaptation there. In four studies we found a suggestion that adaptive changes can have a de novo origin (Kotsakiozi et al., 2017; Lin et al., 2017; Mérel et al., 2021; Sherpa et al., 2019c), but none of these studies performed a formal test proving the origin of this diversity. Standing genetic variation as a source of adaptive variants was reported in 24 out of 101 studies, the remaining studies did not specify the source of variation. In nine studies, homozygosity runs or regions with linkage disequilibrium (LD) were interpreted as a footprint of selective sweeps (Wu *et al.*, 2019; Lin *et al.*, 2017; Krehenwinkel *et al.*, 2015; Chen *et al.*, 2021b; Hübner *et al.*, 2022; Liu *et al.*, 2022; Wegner, Lokmer & John, 2020; Konorov *et al.*, 2021; Yoshida *et al.*, 2016), but without a clear distinction between soft or hard sweep. It is important to note that the length of the selective sweep footprint left on genomic regions depends strongly on recombination rate (Garud, 2023) which can greatly narrow down the hitchhiking effect (Fay & Wu, 2000).

#### (b) Selection footprints in the invasive range

Adaptation of species in the invasive range results from different types of selection, including directional, divergent, or parallel selection. In cases where multiple genetic variants provide better adaptation to new environments, balancing selection occurs in the invasive range. Conversely, if variants brought into a new range confer lower fitness in the novel conditions, negative or purifying selection is expected.

The most common result reported as a proof of selection in the invasive range was a change in allele frequency (outlier loci) between native and introduced populations (7 out of 36 studies). These studies neither interpreted further the type of selection nor related outliers to specific selective pressures. Our survey did not find evidence that balancing or diversifying selection occurring in the native range (Lee, 2016) is the common driver of directional selection in the invasive range. Nevertheless it is important to note that although balancing selection is increasingly acknowledged as a widespread mechanism creating genetic diversity within populations, its detection is challenging. For genomic data, high SNP densities are needed as signatures of balancing selection are often much narrower than for other selection types (Bitarello et al., 2023). The most prominent examples of the role of balancing selection in the native range for the success of invasive species show a repetitive response to selection acting on the same loci in native and invasive populations [Eurytemora affinis (Stern & Lee, 2020), Gambusia holbrooki (Vera et al., 2016)]. Similarly, in the invasive European green crab (Carcinus maenas), adaptation to wide temperature spectra enabled successful adaptation in the invasive range (Tepolt & Palumbi, 2020). Five studies reported balancing selection in the invasive range, and 12 out of 101 studies reported only the presence of outlier loci between native and invasive populations, without interpreting the type of selection. Our results show that favourable genetic variants brought from native ranges are often a source of rapid adaptation to novel habitat characteristics.

The genomic pattern left by selection in an invasive population linked to environmental selection agents can provide confirmation of rapidly occurring adaptations (Gautier, 2015). However, statistical associations between specific gene variants and environmental characteristics are relatively rare in our database. In only 12 out of 60 studies were such associations reported, offering direct evidence for adaptation to environmental variables in the new range. Gene–environment analyses (GEAs) require gathering environmental data and sampling a relevant number of individuals. Additionally, large, repetitive genomes, and high levels of gene flow between diverse populations affecting population structure and causing a decrease in locally adaptive variants *via* genetic swamping, make GEAs challenging. The small number of such studies reveals a significant gap in research on adaptation in invasive species and indicates that defining relevant environmental characteristics or traits relevant for invasion success remains challenging. More examples documenting such associations will improve our understanding of the genetic architecture of local adaptation.

Regardless of the type of selection footprint detected in invasive populations, the majority of studies report the joint action of selection and bottleneck/genetic drift and high or stable levels of genetic diversity (Fig. 5A).

# (c) Factors creating genomic diversity in populations showing adaptive changes in the invasive range

High standing genomic diversity is expected to be the primary cause of adaptive potential in invasive species (Tepolt, 2015), both for terrestrial and aquatic environments. We therefore evaluated the levels of genomic diversity in studies where adaptive selection was detected in the invasive populations (60% of 101 population studies, Fig. 5A). Almost half of the studies that detected selection in the invasive range did not show a reduction in genetic diversity. An increase (e.g. Errbii et al., 2021; Bieker et al., 2022; Wellband et al., 2018), no change (e.g. Yoshida et al., 2016; Popovic et al., 2021; Ni et al., 2018), or only a moderate decrease in genetic diversity in the invasive range (e.g. Hübner et al., 2022; Yin et al., 2021) was reported in 26 out of the 60 studies. For moderate reductions of diversity, the authors often argued that the observed reduction did not affect the species' ability to undergo rapid adaptive evolutionary change. Only 11 out of 60 studies reported a decrease in genomic diversity of invasive populations (Fig. 1G). Using the categorisation of genetic diversity in the invasive range, only 11 of the 60 studies reported low diversity (Fig. 1G) and associated it with genetic bottlenecks upon introduction.

Most studies 39/60 report genetic drift and/or bottleneck as a force shaping genetic diversity in invasive populations (see Section IV.2). In some cases, reduced genetic diversity of invasive populations was reinforced by both genetic drift/bottleneck and diversifying, directional or purifying selection (Wu et al., 2019; Pérez-Portela et al., 2018; Vera et al., 2016; Sherpa et al., 2018; Skrede et al., 2021; Selechnik et al., 2019; Tepolt et al., 2022; Mittan-Moreau et al., 2022; Chen et al., 2021c). In the invasive brown rat, Rattus norvegicus in China (Chen et al., 2021c), a decrease in genetic diversity was caused both by genetic drift and directional selection in loci related to lipid metabolism and immunity in the invasive range. The authors underlined the role of bottlenecks and genetic drift in facilitating purifying selection resulting in more effective elimination of deleterious alleles due to nonrandom mating in small populations. In the invasive European green crab, Carcinus maenas, successful invasion

LD

14%

NO

B/D

A

HD

LD 1%

![](_page_12_Figure_2.jpeg)

of each article as high or low; and (B) the percentage of articles where selection was detected, the percentage of articles where admixture was reported or not and the percentage of articles where genetic diversity of invasive populations was assessed as high or low. Empty regions reflect the lack of information in the analysed articles. ADM, presence of admixture; B/D, presence of genetic bottleneck and/or genetic drift; HD, high level of genetic diversity in invasive populations; LD, low level of genetic diversity in invasive populations; NO ADM, absence of admixture; NO B/D, absence of genetic bottleneck and genetic drift; SEL, presence of selection in invasive range. along the northeast Pacific coastline occurred despite low levels of genetic diversity (Tepolt et al., 2022). In this case, rapid cold adaptation acted through a handful of linked SNPs under balancing selection. The authors showed that

24%

B/D

SEL

В

HD

6%

LD

synonymous mutations in gustatory receptors as well as expansion in gustatory receptor genes were found to be associated with novel nutrition sources despite strong bottleneck (Wu et al., 2019). These examples show that while high genetic diversity can foster invasive potential, it is not a prerequisite for successful invasion. The most common phenomenon contributing to an increase in levels of genomic diversity of invasive populations under selection was gene flow within the invasive range, with a majority (36/60) of studies identifying admixture between invasive populations as a primary factor increasing the genomic diversity of invasive populations (Section IV.3). Only 10 out of 60 studies reported no admixture, and 14 out of 60 reported a lack of significant change in genomic diversity. Other factors included recurrent invasions and the presence of bridgehead populations (Kramer et al., 2023; Sherpa et al., 2018) that eventually led to increased genetic variation. For example, the Caribbean invasive populations of the mos-

quito Aedes aegypti (Sherpa et al., 2018) showed signs of genetic

drift, two bottlenecks and small effective population size. As a

result, invasive populations had overall low genetic diversity,

variation originated from a single inversion polymorphism

before the introduction into the invasive range. In fall webworm, Hyphantria cunea, selective sweeps and excess of non(Errbii et al., 2021; Bieker et al., 2022), from related native species (Yoshida et al., 2016) or between related non-native species that occurred prior to introduction (Martin et al., 2016). Only 16 out of 101 studies investigated interspecies hybridisation (Fig. 1D). Adaptive introgression was detected in seven studies, where introgression facilitated adaptation by introducing specific genes/variants into invasive species' genomes. Dutch elm disease is caused by three different fungal lineages Ophiostoma ulmi, Ophiostoma novo-ulmi subspecies novo-ulmi and Ophiostoma novo-ulmi subspecies americana, which differ in pathogenicity and temperature optimum. Gene flow from the more ancient to the more recent invasive lineages resulted in introgression between lineages that impacted fitness-related traits (Hessenauer et al., 2020). Another example is provided by introgression between two species of Helicoverpa moths, where widespread introgression from native to invasive species took place, followed by intensive expansion of the invasive H. armigera. Interestingly, selection against introgression after the initial expansion, and back-introgression of an insecticideresistant locus to native species, has resulted in the coexistence of two insecticide-resistant pest species (Valencia-Montova *et al.*, 2020).

Biological Reviews (2025) 000-000 © 2025 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

Taken together, the latest genomic studies on rapid adaptation during invasions provide evidence that while genetic drift often occurs as the result of the establishment of new populations outside their natural ranges, any reduction in genetic diversity typically is not severe and often is counteracted by multiple introductions, admixture or interspecific gene flow. A significant and permanent reduction of genetic diversity is rarely detected in invasive populations, and even where it occurs, does not

appear to rule out the chances of rapid molecular adaptation and usually does not impact the species' performance in the invasive range. The classical "genetic paradox" of invasive species, where adaptation in the invasive range is observed despite reduction in genetic diversity, seems to be exceptionally rare. Similar adaptive mechanisms operate in both the native

and invasive populations, yet the latter may experience more pronounced or relaxed selection pressures depending on conditions in the invasive range. Heightened selection pressure from novel environmental conditions in the invasive range may impose selection for higher mutation rates (Travis & Travis, 2002). By contrast, release from natural enemies may reduce or eliminate selective forces in invasive populations (Biedrzycka *et al.*, 2023). Additionally, the presence of other species or genetically distinct ecotypes of the invasive species may facilitate hybridisation and introgression in the invasive range. It can be argued that, in many cases, increased selection pressures in the invasive habitat could lead to accelerated evolutionary processes compared to the native habitat.

Studies using genomic data to explore molecular adaptation in invasive populations are undergoing a transition from analyses mainly of demographic processes to research aiming to understand the molecular mechanisms driving rapid adaptation in invasive species.

#### (d) Genes under selection

The superior performance of invasive species should imply that they possess adaptations in genes related to those specific biological features. Gene families known to be associated with invasiveness include families involved in chemosensory abilities (Liu et al., 2016; Papanicolaou et al., 2016; Sparks & Dickens, 2017; Wu et al., 2016; Yuan et al., 2016), detoxification metabolism (Andersen et al., 2017; Grigoraki et al., 2017; Nguyen et al., 2016; Tian et al., 2017), heat shock proteins (HSPs) (Hu, Chen & Li, 2014; Wang et al., 2017) and innate immunity (Beckert et al., 2016; Vogel, Schmidtberg & Vilcinskas, 2017). Selection processes were commonly detected in the invasive range, and 46 of those 60 articles identified specific genes or DNA regions acting as selection targets (Table 3). However, the majority of studies used only outlier detection and seldom linked outlier loci with specific selection pressures or assigned significance using quantile thresholds, thus some of the reported results might be false positives. Additionally, the inference between sectional and demographic processes should be taken into account when identifying sites under selection (Lotterhos & Whitlock, 2014). Several articles emphasise that finer resolution genotyping (Hübner et al., 2022), wholegenome sequencing, appropriately large sample sizes

(Jeffery *et al.*, 2017a; van Boheemen & Hodgins, 2020), and the availability of reference genomes for invasive species (Mérel *et al.*, 2021; Formenti *et al.*, 2022; Theissinger *et al.*, 2023) are needed for the identification of genes crucial for adaptation in the invasive range. We reiterate these recommendations here. For the studies in our database, genes under selection are related to various environmental pressures and functions (Table 3). Additional studies in different invasive systems are needed to identify other invasion-related gene families, and should include comparative genomic studies on gene family expansions and contractions performed on related invasive and non-invasive species.

New environmental conditions pose significant challenges for invasive species, particularly during establishment in a new range. Specific genes under environmental selection were identified in 19 articles where selection was detected (Table 3). Genetic adaptations to temperature were found in 10 of all analysed environmental-related studies and were key in populations invading colder climates, higher altitudes and/or facing seasonal variability (e.g. overwintering). Genes associated with lipid metabolic pathways constituted a significant subset of temperature-related genes. Lipid metabolic regulation is involved in adaptation to fluctuating temperatures, overwintering and diapause regulation (Table 3).

According to the enemy release hypothesis, pathogens left behind during species translocation should relax selection on the host genome (Colautti *et al.*, 2004). However, genes associated with the immune response were found to be under selection in seven studies. Candidate genes often were linked to virus and helminth infection or were inflammatory response-related genes (Table 3). A response of immune-related genes to environmental stressors was detected in the marine ascidian *Molgula manhattensis* (Chen *et al.*, 2021a).

Genes involved in metabolic pathways were under selection in nine articles. Most genes were linked to carbohydrate metabolism associated with nutrient processing (Table 3). Selection of genes linked to detoxification was found in several studies (Table 3).

Insecticide resistance represents a concern for pest or vector control programs (Kramer *et al.*, 2023). A signature of selection in genes linked to insecticide resistance was reported in four studies (Table 3). Additionally, selection acting on olfactory and gustatory receptors was reported in several studies. Selection of genes associated with abiotic stressors was also reported in multiple studies.

#### VI. CONTRIBUTIONS OF DIFFERENT GENOMIC CHANGES IN INVASIVE SPECIES

Several studies in our database mention genetic changes other than sequence variation that could potentially impact the success of invasive populations, including genome size, whole genome duplication (WGD), gene family expansions, gene regulation, or activity of transposable elements (TE).

1469185x, 0, Downloaded from https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/bwr.70005 by Instytut Ochrony Przyrodyon, Wiley Online Library on [17/02/2025]. See the Terms and Conditions (https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/ems-and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons License

T 11 0	C	C C		· · ·	C		1, 1	1	1	•	.1	. 1.	· 1 1	1.		1 / 1
Lable 5	Nummar	v ot tu	nctiona	LCategorie	s of gei	nes renorte	i ni ne	se undei	° selecti	nn n	the	studies	includ	ed in	our	database
rabic 5.	Summa	y OI 10	incuona.	I Callgoin	5 01 201	ites reporte	uui	se unaei	sciecu	on m	unc	studies	morua	cu m	oui	uatabase.
				()												

Genes	Organisms	Function	References					
Environmental pressure	<i>Eurytemora affinis</i> , marine ascidian, sea squirts	Adaptation to salinity	Chen et al. (2021a); Stern & Lee (2020); Lin et al. (2017); Ni et al. (2018)					
	Oculina patagonica, Mytilus galloprovincialis, round goby, European green crab, wasp spider, Colorado potato beetle, yellow fever mosquito, Asian tiger mosquito, cane toad, house crow, sea squirts, brown rat, ant, Asian house rat	Adaptation to temperature	Lin et al. (2017); Sherpa et al. (2019b); Krehenwinkel et al. (2015); Goubert et al. (2017); Leydet et al. (2018); Popovic & Riginos (2020); Errbii et al (2021); Chen et al. (2021b); Yang et al (2022); Kramer et al. (2023); Tepolt & Palumbi (2020); Konorov et al. (2021) Krzemińska et al. (2018); Selechnik et al. (2019); Sherpa et al. (2019c); Wellband et al. (2021c)					
	Asian tiger mosquito, ant, Asian house rat, house crow, brown rat	Lipid metabolic regulation	Sherpa <i>et al.</i> (2019b); Goubert <i>et al.</i> (2017); Errbii <i>et al.</i> (2021); Chen <i>et al.</i> (2021b); Konorov <i>et al.</i> (2021); Krzemińska <i>et al.</i> (2018); Chen <i>et al.</i> (2021c)					
	Asian house rat	Adaptation to high- altitude hypoxia	Chen <i>et al.</i> $(2021c)$					
Metabolism	Mealybug, tubenose goby, sweet vernal grass, common ragweed	Detoxification	Ma <i>et al.</i> (2020); Bieker <i>et al.</i> (2022); Wellband <i>et al.</i> (2018); Gould & Geber (2016)					
	Pacific oyster, <i>Eurytemora affinis</i> , fall webworm, mealybug, sea lamprey	Energy metabolism	Wu et al. (2019); Stern & Lee (2020); Ma et al. (2020); Wegner et al. (2020); Yin et al. (2021)					
Growth, reproduction,	Red lionfish, common ragweed, small hive beetle	Reproduction	Burford Reiskind <i>et al.</i> (2019); Bieker <i>et al.</i> (2022); Liu <i>et al.</i> (2021)					
development	Common ragweed, small hive beetle, mealybug, sea lamprey, mosquitofish, guppies, marine mussel, threespine stickleback, Florida Burmese pythons	Growth and development	Ma et al. (2020); Rosenthal et al. (2021); Vera et al. (2016); Card et al. (2018); Popovic & Riginos (2020); Bieker et al. (2022); Liu et al. (2021); Yin et al. (2021), Yoshida et al. (2016); Martin et al. (2016)					
Insecticide resistance	Helicoverpa moths, Colorado potato beetle, Halyomorpha halys, yellow fever mosquito	Insecticide resistance	Yang et al. (2022); Parvizi et al. (2023); Kramer et al. (2023); Sherpa et al. (2018); Valencia-Montoya et al. (2020); Parvizi et al. (2023)					
Immune	Common raccoon, Australian rabbits, <i>Eurytemora affinis</i> , Pacific oyster, threespine stickleback, common ragweed, marine ascidian	Immune response	Chen et al. (2021a); Stern & Lee (2020); Konopiński et al. (2023); Hodgins et al. (2015); Bieker et al. (2022); Wegner et al. (2020); Yoshida et al. (2016); Martin et al. (2016); Schwensow et al. (2017)					
Others	Fall webworms, Drosophila suzukii, ants, Halvomorpha halvs	Olfactory and gustatory functions	Koch <i>et al.</i> (2020); Wu <i>et al.</i> (2019); Errbii <i>et al.</i> (2021): Parvizi <i>et al.</i> (2023)					
	Dry rot fungus	DNA replication and protein modification	Skrede <i>et al.</i> (2021)					
	Common ragweed, marine ascidian, round goby, marine mussels, red turpentine beetle, glossy buckthorn, Mikania micrantha, Helianthus annus, Ambrosia trifida, Ambrosia artemisiifolia, Centaurea diffusa, Centaurea solstitialis, Cirsium arvense	Response to abiotic stressors	Chen et al. (2021a); Hodgins et al. (2015); Popovic & Riginos (2020); Bieker et al. (2022); Liu et al. (2022); De Kort et al. (2016); Yang et al. (2017); Wellband et al. (2018)					

Studies of intraspecific genome size variation in plants suggest that a smaller amount of nuclear DNA may be a factor in successful invasions in resource-poor environments; invasive populations were characterised by a smaller genome in European common reed grass in North America (see Fig. 2 in Pyšek *et al.*, 2018), and a smaller genome size was also an

important explanatory factor for differences in functional plant traits for successful invasions (see Fig. 3 in Pyšek et al., 2018). By contrast, allopolyploids that have evolved as a result of merging the subgenomes of different species offer evolutionary novelty through biased homoeologous gene expression and TE repression possibly enhancing adaptiveness and invasiveness associated with the species' traits and ecology (Giraud et al., 2021). WGD events are also a common cause of the development of increased stress resistance in plants due to advantageous changes in gene family sizes, and have contributed to invasiveness in notorious weeds (Oian et al., 2022). Paleoploidic history in combination with lineage-specific and recent segmental genomic duplications can lead to rapid adaptation to new habitats, especially when gene families related to fast growth are significantly expanded (Liu et al., 2020b). Another key adaptation is the capacity of invasive species to establish large clonal populations, as has been shown in parthenogenically reproducing species (Gutekunst et al., 2018). Their evolutionary success lies primarily in the potential to use increased heterozygosity associated with polyploidy and clonal expansion for rapidly acquired adaptive advantages (Gutekunst et al., 2018).

Some studies used experimental approaches to demonstrate the importance of particular invasive traits, such as the upregulation of key genes, and provided additional evidence for mechanisms facilitating invasion (Wu *et al.*, 2019; Rispe *et al.*, 2020; Liu *et al.*, 2020a; Liu *et al.*, 2018; Zhang *et al.*, 2020; Giraud *et al.*, 2021). Studies comparing gene expression patterns between native and invasive populations under stress showed that expression responses to stress changes, indicating genetic differentiation of invasive populations, involves the rewiring of regulatory networks (Marín *et al.*, 2021; Oh *et al.*, 2022).

TEs, in general, generate a cost in the host genome and are usually removed or inactivated. Founder events can create periods during which the strength of purifying selection is weaker, facilitating activation and expansion of such elements, as has been demonstrated in a fungal pathogen (Oggenfuss *et al.*, 2021). This can shape and diversify the genomes of invasive species. Only two studies in our database analysed TEs in the context of invasion, providing evidence for the association of some active TE families with invasive populations (Mérel *et al.*, 2021; Lee & Wang, 2018). Still, the impact of TEs on fitness and adaptation or maladaptation in invasive populations remains to be studied further.

Genetic factors contributing to invasion success extend beyond SNPs and often require well-annotated genomes and experimental testing. However, they offer a broader perspective on mechanisms of adaptation and in particular on adaptation of invasive species to new environments.

# VII. NON-GENETIC FACTORS CONTRIBUTING TO INVASION

Our search terms were related to mechanisms that could potentially affect the genetic diversity and performance of invasive species. The collected articles also were screened for information on non-genetic mechanisms that could explain the invasion success of particular species. Only 13 of all analysed articles mentioned non-genetic factors as contributing to successful invasion. By qualifying the mechanism as non-genetic, we excluded information that the invasion was human-mediated, as invasions are inherently related to human activity. We also excluded factors that may have a genetic background, but where their elucidation was not the purpose of the study (i.e. factors that were mentioned in the text but not directly studied such as the breath of thermal tolerance or extreme insecticide resistance).

The most frequently mentioned non-genetic factor was habitat niche congruence between native and invasive ranges (Green *et al.*, 2023; Du *et al.*, 2021; Sherpa *et al.*, 2019c; Gutekunst *et al.*, 2018), although only one of these studies performed niche comparison analysis (Sherpa *et al.*, 2019c). Niche comparisons of Asian tiger mosquito invasion in Europe supported niche conservatism, suggesting that the invasive range expansion did not necessitate new genomic adaptations, although genomic adaptations were detected in invasive populations. Other mechanisms included "enemy release" in the invasive range (Bieker *et al.*, 2022) and the composition of the gut microbiome (Liu *et al.*, 2018).

The infrequent references to non-genetic factors promoting invasions suggest that authors often concentrate on individual factors, and that multidisciplinary studies are rarely undertaken. Although this approach is understandable, given the time and cost demands of comprehensive studies, it complicates an holistic understanding of the invasion process. Conversely, it may suggest that mechanisms related to genomic diversity may predominate.

### VIII. DISCUSSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

There is an inherent bias related to studying successful species invasions that affects our understanding of invasion mechanisms. Although it is difficult to study failed invasions, research into the causes of failed biocontrol and studies of historical data (Marsico et al., 2010) can provide a context in which to assess successful invasions. Such data sets are limited, but the awareness of the costs of alien species introduction is growing. According to the EU Invasive Alien Species Regulation (1143/2014), strict monitoring of all stages of species invasions must be undertaken and there is a requirement for science-based decision making. These regulations should encourage scientists to study early stages of invasions and identify causes of varying invasion success. Below we describe the general picture emerging from the latest invasion genomics studies, present a critical assessment of gaps in the field and propose directions for future research.

The frequent role of admixture in elevating the levels of genetic diversity in novel invasive habitats is the most important finding of our study. Although admixture can be detected using data from well-adopted and affordable techniques, such as RRS and standard population genetics tests, we argue that there should be scope for other approaches to answer more detailed questions and understand the consequences of admixture. Precise identification of the time and extent of admixture between divergent populations in the invasive range, categorisation of invasive populations according to the degree of admixture, and identification of "admixture hotspots" should be a focus in invasive species management. Moreover, studies measuring fitness change or an increase/decrease in invasiveness after admixture will be necessary to assess its role in adaptation of invasive species. We propose the term "Invasive Evolutionarily Significant Unit" (IESU) to be used in management of invasive populations. This term extends the longstanding concept of Evolutionarily Significant Unit (ESU) in conservation genetics. An ESU represents a population or a group of populations evolving independently and managed for effective species conservation (Hoelzel, 2023). We recommend designating invasive population groups or spatial areas to IESUs where a high level of admixture has possibly increased the evolutionary potential of an invasive species. RRS approaches should be adopted as an inexpensive and widely accessible tool for the identification of admixture hotspots to which proactive management actions should be directed.

We also see the need to collect and analyse time-point series data which are crucial for detecting selection and demographic events at different stages of invasion. Timeseries sampling would allow precise detection and estimation of the frequency and timing of admixture events and bottlenecks occurring upon introduction in the new range and the tempo of evolutionary change. Additionally, they could help determine if selection occurred immediately after introduction, whether it required a lag phase, or took place during population expansion. Although we identified collected numerous studies that compared the genetic diversity of native and invasive populations, most of these were point measurements that do not allow us to evaluate precisely when a change in genomic diversity occurred. Collecting time-series data for invasive species will be challenging as many invasions are only identified at later stages. Nevertheless, increasing awareness of the risk potentially posed by alien species, especially from rapidly spreading and fastreproducing groups, means that genetic monitoring of such taxa could enable the collection of these vital data.

Our review found the most common evidence of adaptation was the detection of outlier loci between native and invasive ranges. Outlier loci can be identified with a variety of genomic methods, with different selection criteria, and with or without taking into account the underlying demographic history. Such methods do not inform us about the extent of a species' response to selection but rather identify potential genetic targets of selection. In the absence of information on environmental features responsible for the change, or experimental manipulation of outlier loci, this approach does not allow biological interpretation of the selection process. Analysing selection in both invasive and native ranges, for example using GEA analysis, with respect to habitat heterogeneity, instead provides a comprehensive understanding of the role of the adaptive process in invasions. Furthermore, measurements of the level of genetic diversity that is needed for a species to adapt to environmental change can be of use when modelling species responses to climate change. Data on adaptive potential expressed as variation in functional loci and the levels of genomic diversity should be incorporated into species distribution and ecological niche modelling. Studies of native and invasive populations inhabiting differentiated habitats should provide evidence for the extent of parallel evolution in invasive populations. Invasive species could serve as excellent models for measuring and validating genetic offset, that is a measure of the mismatch in the genotype-climate association between current and future climates (Fitzpatrick & Keller, 2015), and for evolutionary rescue in the face of climate change. Invasive populations represent natural experiments, and hence enable comparisons of population fitness in new environments with fitness expected from GEA predictions.

Incorporating fitness, population performance or phenotypic data into the study of adaptations in invasive species requires controlling for environmental variation, often by using experimental designs. Identification of the most common basis of phenotypic variation encoded by multiple small-effect loci can be achieved by controlling for environmental variation and using the genome wide association studies (GWAS) approach. GWAS allows for identification of species characteristics that are crucial for effective invasion such as dispersal, reproduction and resistance to control measures (Blackburn et al., 2024). We did not find evidence of de novo mutations being a frequent source of diversity and adaptation in invasive populations, despite previous assertions, not only for invasive species but for the process of adaptation in general (Capblancq et al., 2020). In our database, standing genetic variation appears to be the most commonly detected, but also most commonly investigated, source of adaptation in invasive populations. Our lack of detection of a role for *de novo* mutations could be the result of the still limited number of studies using high-coverage WGS data.

Although the cost of WGS technologies, especially longread sequencing, is still prohibitive for many researchers, the number of reference genomes available is gradually increasing. Projects such as Earth BioGenome Project (EBP) or European Reference Genome Atlas (ERGA) are producing high-quality genomic sequences across eukaryotic diversity (Formenti et al., 2022). Numerous invasive species still lack reference genomes (Matheson & McGaughran, 2022), but we expect a rapidly increasing availability of WGS data. Importantly, even when WGS data were used in invasion studies, the full potential of the data often was not used to elucidate the mechanisms of invasions. Fine resolution of genetic diversity and population structure provided by WGS ensures accurate estimation of effective population size (Ne), recombination rate, linkage disequilibrium or mutation load. Nevertheless, many studies using sequenced genomes relied only on SNP data. WGS data allow us to analyse structural variation (SV) that should be considered when determining local adaptation. Large-effect genetic changes

18

may be achieved by groups of mutations in tight genetic linkage (Yeaman & Whitlock, 2011), including mutations captured by chromosomal inversions. There is growing evidence that inversions can drive range expansions (Kirkpatrick & Barrett, 2015). Comparisons of SV among invasive and non-invasive species could provide insights into the role of specific genome features in adaptation during invasion.

We also noted a lack of comparative genomic studies that attempted to identify genome characteristics other than SNPs underlying species invasiveness. In their new range, invasive species typically experience a new climate, availability of resources and biotic interactions. Adaptation to these new environmental conditions sometimes requires novel genetic variation that may provide new functions important for facing new environmental challenges. Such sudden shifts in selective pressures may result in large-effect mutations (Orr, 2005). The sources of novelty are often gene duplications, resulting in the expansion of gene families and subsequent neofunctionalisation of specific genes (Salojärvi, 2019). Comparison of gene family sizes between genomes of related native and invasive species and selection acting on these genes can provide insights into how genomic novelty enhances adaptive responses (Pyšek et al., 2018).

Genome-wide studies allow identification of genes and molecular mechanisms crucial for understanding the success of invasive species and for developing countermeasures (Heuertz *et al.*, 2023). The application of genomic data to prevent or manage invasions has been restricted to certain groups of invasive organisms, such as in the biosurveillance of forest insect pests (Roe *et al.*, 2019) or crop pests (Taylor *et al.*, 2012; Wani *et al.*, 2022). Examples of applications in other groups of invasive species are still limited (but see Ferreira-Martins *et al.*, 2021; Harvey-Samuel, Ant & Alphey, 2017) and are currently under development. This application gap highlights the potential future directions of WGS, which should prioritise controlling invasive species to promote biodiversity conservation and safeguard ecosystem services.

### IX. CONCLUSIONS

(1) This systematic review of articles using genomic methods to reveal mechanisms of species invasions shows that the "genetic paradox" of invasive species is not a common phenomenon.

(2) Demographic processes, such as genetic drift and bottlenecks rarely cause a significant decrease in genomic diversity. Any reduction in genomic diversity usually was described as relatively mild and almost always resolved *via* gene flow between different invasive populations.

(3) Even where a decrease in genomic diversity between native and invasive ranges was noted, the overall level of genomic diversity in invasive populations usually remained high. Selection processes could be detected in more than half of the analysed studies, further demonstrating that reductions in diversity do not prevent adaptations to novel habitats.

(4) Despite a large number of studies involving genomics in invasion studies, there remains a need for wider application of time-point series genomic data, the incorporation of habitat, climate and population fitness components into genomic analysis, and more frequent application of WGS data both for revealing invasion mechanisms and for invasion management.

### X. REFERENCES

References identified with an asterisk (\*) are cited only within the online Supporting Information.

- \*ADRIAN-KALCHHAUSER, I., BLOMBERG, A., LARSSON, T., MUSILOVA, Z., PEART, C. R., PIPPEL, M., SOLBAKKEN, M. H., SUURVÄLI, J., WALSER, J.-C., WILSON, J. Y., ALM ROSENBLAD, M., BURGUERA, D., GUTNIK, S., MICHIELS, N., TÖPEL, M., *ET AL.* (2020). The round goby genome provides insights into mechanisms that may facilitate biological invasions. *BMC Biology* 18(1), 11.
- \*ALVES, J. M., CARNEIRO, M., DAY, J. P., WELCH, J. J., DUCKWORTH, J. A., COX, T. E., LETNIC, M., STRIVE, T., FERRAND, N. & JIGGINS, F. M. (2022). A single introduction of wild rabbits triggered the biological invasion of Australia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 119(35), e2122734119.
- ANDERSEN, J. C., HAVILL, N. P., CACCONE, A. & ELKINTON, J. S. (2017). Postglacial recolonization shaped the genetic diversity of the winter moth (*Operophtera brumata*) in Europe. *Ecology and Evolution* 7(10), 10.
- \*ARIAS, M. B., HARTLE-MOUGIOU, K., TABOADA, S., VOGLER, A. P., RIESGO, A. & ELFEKIH, S. (2022). Unveiling biogeographical patterns in the worldwide distributed *Ceratitis capitata* (medfly) using population genomics and microbiome composition. *Molecular Ecology* **31**(18), 4866–4883.
- BAKER, H. G. & STEBBINS, G. L. (1965). The Genetics of Colonizing Species. In Proceedings of the First International Union of Biological Sciences Symposia on General Biology.
- BARGHI, N., TOBLER, R., NOLTE, V., JAKŠIĆ, A. M., MALLARD, F., OTTE, K. A., DOLEZAL, M., TAUS, T., KOFLER, R. & SCHLÖTTERER, C. (2019). Genetic redundancy fuels polygenic adaptation in *Drosophila*. *PLoS Biology* 17(2), 2.
- \*BARKER, B. S., ANDONIAN, K., SWOPE, S. M., LUSTER, D. G. & DLUGOSCH, K. M. (2017). Population genomic analyses reveal a history of range expansion and trait evolution across the native and invaded range of yellow starthistle (*Centaurea solstitialis*). *Molecular Ecology* **26**(4), 1131–1147.
- BARRETT, R. D. H. & SCHLUTER, D. (2008). Adaptation from standing genetic variation. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 23(1), 38.
- BECKERT, A., WIESNER, J., SCHMIDTBERG, H., LEHMANN, R., BAUMANN, A., VOGEL, H. & VILCINSKAS, A. (2016). Expression and characterization of a recombinant i-type lysozyme from the harlequin ladybird beetle *Armonia axyridis*. *Insect Molecular Biology* 25(3), 202–215.
- BELLARD, C., CASSEY, P. & BLACKBURN, T. M. (2016). Alien species as a driver of recent extinctions. *Biology Letters* 12(2), 20150623.
- \*BERGLAND, A. O., TOBLER, R., GONZÁLEZ, J., SCHMIDT, P. & PETROV, D. (2016). Secondary contact and local adaptation contribute to genome-wide patterns of clinal variation in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Molecular Ecology* **25**(5), 1157–1174.
- BIEDRZYCKA, A., KONOPIŃSKI, M. K., POPIOIEK, M., ZAWIŚLAK, M., BARTOSZEWICZ, M. & KLOCH, A. (2023). Non-MHC immunity genes do not affect parasite load in European invasive populations of common raccoon. *Scientific Reports* 13(1), 15696.
- BIEKER, V. C., BATTLAY, P., PETERSEN, B., SUN, X., WILSON, J., BREALEY, J. C., BRETAGNOLLE, F., NURKOWSKI, K., LEE, C., BARREIRO, F. S., OWENS, G. L., LEE, J. Y., KELLNER, F. L., VAN BOHEEMEN, L., GOPALAKRISHNAN, S., *ET AL.* (2022). Uncovering the genomic basis of an extraordinary plant invasion. *Science Advances* 8(34), eabo5115.
- BITARELLO, B. D., BRANDT, D. Y. C., MEYER, D. & ANDRÉS, A. M. (2023). Inferring balancing selection from genome-scale data. *Genome Biology and Evolution* 15(3), evad032.
- BLACKBURN, G. S., KEELING, C. I., PRUNIER, J., KEENA, M. A., BÉLIVEAU, C., HAMELIN, R., HAVILL, N. P., HEBERT, F. O., LEVESQUE, R. C., CUSSON, M. & PORTH, I. (2024). Genetics of flight in spongy moths (*Lymantria dispar ssp.*): functionally integrated profiling of a complex invasive trait. *BMC Genomics* 25(1), 541.
- BOCK, D. G., CASEYS, C., COUSENS, R. D., HAHN, M. A., HEREDIA, S. M., HÜBNER, S., TURNER, K. G., WHITNEY, K. D. & RIESEBERG, L. H. (2015). What we still don't know about invasion genetics. *Molecular Ecology* 24(9), 2277–2297.

Biological Reviews (2025) 000-000 © 2025 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- BOSSDORF, O., AUGE, H., LAFUMA, L., ROGERS, W. E., SIEMANN, E. & PRATI, D. (2005). Phenotypic and genetic differentiation between native and introduced plant populations. *Oecologia* 144(1), 1.
- \*BRAZIER, T., CHERIF, E., MARTIN, J.-F., GILLES, A., BLANCHET, S., ZHAO, Y., COMBE, M., MCCAIRNS, R. J. S. & GOZLAN, R. E. (2022). The influence of native populations' genetic history on the reconstruction of invasion routes: the case of a highly invasive aquatic species. *Biological Invasions* 24(8), 2399–2420.
- BRIAN, J. I. & CATFORD, J. A. (2023). A mechanistic framework of enemy release. *Ecology Letters* 26(12), 2147–2166.
- BURFORD REISKIND, M. O., REED, E. M. X., ELIAS, A., GIACOMINI, J. J., MCNEAR, A. F., NIEUWSMA, J., PARKER, G. A., ROBERTS, R. B., ROSSI, R. E., STEPHENSON, C. N., STEVENS, J. L. & WILLIAMS, B. E. (2019). The genomics of invasion: characterization of red lionfish (*Pterois volitans*) populations from the native and introduced ranges. *Biological Invasions* 21(7), 2471–2483.
- \*BURRELL, A. M., PEPPER, A. E., HODNETT, G., GOOLSBY, J. A., OVERHOLT, W. A., RACELIS, A. E., DIAZ, R. & KLEIN, P. E. (2015). Exploring origins, invasion history and genetic diversity of *Imperata cylindrica* (L) P. Beauv. (Cogongrass) in the United States using genotyping by sequencing. *Molecular Ecology* 24(9), 2177–2193.
- \*CAO, L.-J., LI, B.-Y., CHEN, J.-C., ZHU, J.-Y., HOFFMANN, A. A. & WEI, S.-J. (2021). Local climate adaptation and gene flow in the native range of two co-occurring fruit moths with contrasting invasiveness. *Molecular Ecology* **30**(17), 4204–4219.
- CAPBLANCQ, T., FITZPATRICK, M. C., BAY, R. A., EXPOSITO-ALONSO, M. & KELLER, S. R. (2020). Genomic prediction of (mal)adaptation across current and future climatic landscapes. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 51(1), 245.
- CARD, D. C., PERRY, B. W., ADAMS, R. H., SCHIELD, D. R., YOUNG, A. S., ANDREW, A. L., JEZKOVA, T., PASQUESI, G. I. M., HALES, N. R., WALSH, M. R., ROCHFORD, M. R., MAZZOTTI, F. J., HART, K. M., HUNTER, M. E. & CASTOE, T. A. (2018). Novel ecological and climatic conditions drive rapid adaptation in invasive Florida Burmese pythons. *Molecular Ecology* 27(23), 4744– 4757.
- CHAPPLE, D. G., MILLER, K. A., KRAUS, F. & THOMPSON, M. B. (2013). Divergent introduction histories among invasive populations of the delicate skink (*Lampropholis delicata*): has the importance of genetic admixture in the success of biological invasions been overemphasized? *Diversity and Distributions* 19(2), 134.
- CHARLESWORTH, D. & WILLIS, J. H. (2009). The genetics of inbreeding depression. *Nature Reviews Genetics* 10(11), 11.
- \*CHEN, X.-G., JIANG, X., GU, J., XU, M., WU, Y., DENG, Y., ZHANG, C., BONIZZONI, M., DERMAUW, W., VONTAS, J., ARMBRUSTER, P., HUANG, X., YANG, Y., ZHANG, H., HE, W., *ET AL*. (2015). Genome sequence of the Asian Tiger mosquito, *Aedes albopictus*, reveals insights into its biology, genetics, and evolution. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112(44), E5907–E5915.
- CHEN, Y., GAO, Y., HUANG, X., LI, S. & ZHAN, A. (2021a). Local environment-driven adaptive evolution in a marine invasive ascidian (*Molgula manhattensis*). *Ecology and Evolution* 11(9), 4252–4266.
- CHEN, Y., HOU, G., JING, M., TENG, H., LIU, Q., YANG, X., WANG, Y., QU, J., SHI, C., LU, L., ZHANG, J. & ZHANG, Y. (2021b). Genomic analysis unveils mechanisms of northward invasion and signatures of plateau adaptation in the Asian house rat. *Molecular Ecology* **30**(24), 6596–6610.
- CHEN, Y., ZHAO, L., TENG, H., SHI, C., LIU, Q., ZHANG, J. & ZHANG, Y. (2021c). Population genomics reveal rapid genetic differentiation in a recently invasive population of *Rattus noregicus. Frontiers in Zoology* 18(1), 6.
- CLARKE, B. C. (1979). The evolution of genetic diversity. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological Sciences 205(1161), 453.
- COLAUTTI, R. I., RICCIARDI, A., GRIGOROVICH, I. A. & MACISAAC, H. J. (2004). Is invasion success explained by the enemy release hypothesis? *Ecology Letters* 7(8), 721.
- \*COMEAULT, A. A., WANG, J., TITTES, S., ISBELL, K., INGLEY, S., HURLBERT, A. H. & MATUTE, D. R. (2020). Genetic diversity and thermal performance in invasive and native populations of African Fig Flies. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 37(7), 1893–1906.
- DAY, T. (2015). Information entropy as a measure of genetic diversity and evolvability in colonization. *Molecular Ecology* 24(9), 2073.
- DE KORT, H., MERGEAY, J., JACQUEMYN, H. & HONNAY, O. (2016). Transatlantic invasion routes and adaptive potential in North American populations of the invasive glossy buckthorn, Frangula alnus. *Annals of Botany* **118**(6), 1089–1099.
- \*DEMENÉ, A., LEGRAND, L., GOUZY, J., DEBUCHY, R., SAINT-JEAN, G., FABREGUETTES, O. & DUTECH, C. (2019). Whole-genome sequencing reveals recent and frequent genetic recombination between clonal lineages of *Cryphonectria parasitica* in western Europe. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* **130**, 122–133.
- \*DENNENMOSER, S., SEDLAZECK, F. J., IWASZKIEWICZ, E., LI, X.-Y., ALTMÜLLER, J. & NOLTE, A. W. (2017). Copy number increases of transposable elements and protein-coding genes in an invasive fish of hybrid origin. *Molecular Ecology* 26(18), 4712–4724.
- \*DENNENMOSER, S., SEDLAZECK, F. J., SCHATZ, M. C., ALTMÜLLER, J., ZYTNICKI, M. & NOLTE, A. W. (2019). Genome-wide patterns of transposon proliferation in an evolutionary young hybrid fish. *Molecular Ecology* 28(6), 1491–1505.

- \*DI PRINZIO, C. Y., ROSSI, C. R., CIANCIO, J., GARZA, J. C. & CASAUX, R. (2015). Disentangling the contributions of ocean ranching and net-pen aquaculture in the successful establishment of Chinook salmon in a Patagonian basin. *Environmental Biology of Fishes* 98(9), 1987–1997.
- DLUGOSCH, K. M., ANDERSON, S. R., BRAASCH, J., CANG, F. A. & GILLETTE, H. D. (2015). The devil is in the details: genetic variation in introduced populations and its contributions to invasion. *Molecular Ecology* 24(9), 2095–2111.
- DLUGOSCH, K. M. & PARKER, I. M. (2008). Founding events in species invasions: genetic variation, adaptive evolution, and the role of multiple introductions. *Molecular Ecology* 17(1), 431–449.
- DU, Z., WU, Y., CHEN, Z., CAO, L., ISHIKAWA, T., KAMITANI, S., SOTA, T., SONG, F., TIAN, L., CAI, W. & LI, H. (2021). Global phylogeography and invasion history of the spotted lanternfly revealed by mitochondrial phylogenomics. *Evolutionary Applications* 14(4), 915–930.
- DUEÑAS, M.-A., HEMMING, D. J., ROBERTS, A. & DIAZ-SOLTERO, H. (2021). The threat of invasive species to IUCN-listed critically endangered species: a systematic review. *Global Ecology and Conservation* 26, e01476.
- DUTECH, C., BARRÈS, B., BRIDIER, J., ROBIN, C., MILGROOM, M. G. & RAVIGNÉ, V. (2012). The chestnut blight fungus world tour: successive introduction events from diverse origins in an invasive plant fungal pathogen. *Molecular Ecology* 21(16), 3931.
- \*ELFEKIH, S., ETTER, P., TAY, W. T., FUMAGALLI, M., GORDON, K., JOHNSON, E. & BARRO, P. D. (2018). Genome-wide analyses of the *Bemisia tabaci* species complex reveal contrasting patterns of admixture and complex demographic histories. *PLoS* One 13(1), e0190555.
- ERRBH, M., KEILWAGEN, J., HOFF, K. J., STEFFEN, R., ALTMÜLLER, J., OETTLER, J. & SCHRADER, L. (2021). Transposable elements and introgression introduce genetic variation in the invasive ant *Cardiocondyla obscurior*. *Molecular Ecology* 30(23), 6211–6228.
- ESTOUP, A., RAVIGNÉ, V., HUFBAUER, R., VITALIS, R., GAUTIER, M. & FACON, B. (2016). Is there a genetic paradox of biological invasion? *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* **47**(1), 51–72.
- \*EVANS, J. D., MCKENNA, D., SCULLY, E., COOK, S. C., DAINAT, B., EGEKWU, N., GRUBBS, N., LOPEZ, D., LORENZEN, M. D., REYNA, S. M., RINKEVICH, F. D., NEUMANN, P. & HUANG, Q. (2018). Genome of the small hive beetle (*Aethina tumida*, Coleoptera: Nitidulidae), a worldwide parasite of social bee colonies, provides insights into detoxification and herbivory. *GigaScience* 7(12), giy138.
- \*EWART, K. M., GRIFFIN, A. S., JOHNSON, R. N., KARK, S., MAGORY COHEN, T., LO, N. & MAJOR, R. E. (2019). Two speed invasion: assisted and intrinsic dispersal of common mynas over 150 years of colonization. *Journal of Biogeography* 46(1), 45–57.
- \*EYER, P.-A., BLUMENFELD, A. J. & VARGO, E. L. (2019). Sexually antagonistic selection promotes genetic divergence between males and females in an ant. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 116(48), 24157–24163.
- FAUVERGUE, X., VERCKEN, E., MALAUSA, T. & HUFBAUER, R. A. (2012). The biology of small, introduced populations, with special reference to biological control. *Evolutionary Applications* 5(5), 5.
- FAY, J. C. & WU, C. I. (2000). Hitchhiking under positive Darwinian selection. Genetics 155(3), 1405–1413.
- FERREIRA-MARTINS, D., CHAMPER, J., MCCAULEY, D. W., ZHANG, Z. & DOCKER, M. F. (2021). Genetic control of invasive sea lamprey in the Great Lakes. *Journal of Great Lakes Research* 47, S764–S775.
- FITZPATRICK, M. C. & KELLER, S. R. (2015). Ecological genomics meets communitylevel modelling of biodiversity: mapping the genomic landscape of current and future environmental adaptation. *Ecology Letters* 18(1), 1.
- FLANAGAN, B. A., KRUEGER-HADFIELD, S. A., MURREN, C. J., NICE, C. C., STRAND, A. E. & SOTKA, E. E. (2021). Founder effects shape linkage disequilibrium and genomic diversity of a partially clonal invader. *Molecular Ecology* 30(9), 1962–1978.
- FORMENTI, G., THEISSINGER, K., FERNANDES, C., BISTA, I., BOMBARELY, A., B LEIDORN, C., CIOFI, C., CROTTINI, A., GODOY, J. A., HÖGLUND, J., MALUKIEWICZ, J., MOUTON, A., OOMEN, R. A., PAEZ, S., PALSBØLL, P. J. & *ET AL* (2022). The era of reference genomes in conservation genomics. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 37(3), 197–202.
- FORTIČ, A., RASHEED, R. A.-S., ALMAJID, Z., BADREDDINE, A., BÁEZ, J. C., BELMONTE-GALLEGOS, Á., BETTOSO, N., BORME, D., CAMISA, F., CARACCIOLO, D., ÇINAR, M. E., CROCETTA, F., ĆETKOVIĆ, I., DOĞAN, A., GALIYA, M., *ET AL.* (2023). New records of introduced species in the Mediterranean Sea (April 2023).
- FOURNIER, A., PENONE, C., PENNINO, M. G. & COURCHAMP, F. (2019). Predicting future invaders and future invasions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 116(16), 7905–7910.
- GARUD, N. R. (2023). Understanding soft sweeps: a signature of rapid adaptation. Nature Reviews Genetics 24(7), 420.
- GAUTIER, M. (2015). Genome-wide scan for adaptive divergence and association with population-specific covariates. *Genetics* 201(4), 1579.

- \*GIBSON, M. J., TORRES, M. D. L., BRANDVAIN, Y. & MOYLE, L. C. (2021). Introgression shapes fruit color convergence in invasive Galápagos tomato. *eLife* 10, e64165.
- GIRAUD, D., LIMA, O., ROUSSEAU-GUEUTIN, M., SALMON, A. & AÏNOUCHE, M. (2021). Gene and transposable element expression evolution following recent and past polyploidy events in Spartina (Poaceae). *Frontiers in Genetics* **12**, 589160. https://doi.org/10.3389/fgene.2021.589160.
- GOUBERT, C., HENRI, H., MINARD, G., VALIENTE MORO, C., MAVINGUI, P., VIEIRA, C. & BOULESTEIX, M. (2017). High-throughput sequencing of transposable element insertions suggests adaptive evolution of the invasive Asian tiger mosquito towards temperate environments. *Molecular Ecology* 26(15), 3968– 3981.
- GOULD, B. & GEBER, M. (2016). Lack of adaptation from standing genetic variation despite the presence of putatively adaptive alleles in introduced sweet vernal grass (*Anthoxanthum odoratum*). *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 29(1), 178–187.
- GRAY, A. J. (1986). Do invading species have definable genetic characteristics? Royal Society 314(1167), 655–674.
- \*GREEN, L., APOSTOLOU, A., FAUST, E., PALMQVIST, K., BEHRENS, J. W., HAVENHAND, J. N., LEDER, E. H. & KVARNEMO, C. (2021). Ancestral sperm ecotypes reveal multiple invasions of a non-native fish in northern Europe. *Cells* 10(7), 1743.
- GREEN, L., FAUST, E., HINCHCLIFFE, J., BRIJS, J., HOLMES, A., ENGLUND ÖRN, F., SVENSSON, O., ROQUES, J. A. C., LEDER, E. H., SANDBLOM, E. & KVARNEMO, C. (2023). Invader at the edge—genomic origins and physiological differences of round gobies across a steep urban salinity gradient. *Evolutionary Applications* 16(2), 321–337.
- GRIGORAKI, L., PIPINI, D., LABBÉ, P., CHASKOPOULOU, A., WEILL, M. & VONTAS, J. (2017). Carboxylesterase gene amplifications associated with insecticide resistance in *Aedes albopictus*: geographical distribution and evolutionary origin. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases* 11(4), e0005533.
- GUTEKUNST, J., ANDRIANTSOA, R., FALCKENHAYN, C., HANNA, K., STEIN, W., RASAMY, J. & LYKO, F. (2018). Clonal genome evolution and rapid invasive spread of the marbled crayfish. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 2(3), 567–573.
- HARVEY-SAMUEL, T., ANT, T. & ALPHEY, L. (2017). Towards the genetic control of invasive species. *Biological Invasions* 19(6), 6.
- HELLIWELL, E. E., FABER-HAMMOND, J., LOPEZ, Z. C., GAROUTTE, A., VON WETTBERG, E., FRIESEN, M. L. & PORTER, S. S. (2018). Rapid establishment of a flowering cline in *Medicago polymorpha* after invasion of North America. *Molecular Ecology* 27(23), 4758–4774.
- \*HERNÁNDEZ, F., BROWN, J. I., KAMINSKI, M., HARVEY, M. G. & LAVRETSKY, P. (2021). Genomic evidence for rare hybridization and large demographic changes in the evolutionary histories of four North American dove species. *Animals* 11(9), 2677.
- HERNÁNDEZ, R. D., KELLEY, J. L., ELYASHIV, E., MELTON, S. C., AUTON, A., MCVEAN, G., 1000 GENOMES PROJECT, SELLA, G. & PRZEWORSKI, M. (2011). Classic selective sweeps were rare in recent human evolution. *Science (New York, N.Y.)* 331(6019), 920–924. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1198878.
- HESSENAUER, P., FIJARCZYK, A., MARTIN, H., PRUNIER, J., CHARRON, G., CHAPUIS, J., BERNIER, L., TANGUAY, P., HAMELIN, R. C. & LANDRY, C. R. (2020). Hybridization and introgression drive genome evolution of Dutch elm disease pathogens. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 4(4), 638.
- HEUERTZ, M., CARVALHO, S. B., GALINDO, J., RINKEVICH, B., ROBAKOWSKI, P., AAVIK, T., ALTINOK, I., BARTH, J. M. I., COTRIM, H., GOESSEN, R., GONZÁLEZ-MARTÍNEZ, S. C., GREBENC, T., HOBAN, S., KOPATZ, A., MCMAHON, B. J., *Et Al.* (2023). The application gap: genomics for biodiversity and ecosystem service management. *Biological Conservation* **278**, 109883.
- HIATT, D. & FLORY, S. L. (2020). Populations of a widespread invader and cooccurring native species vary in phenotypic plasticity. *New Phytologist* 225(1), 584–594.
- HOELZEL, A. R. (2023). Where to now with the evolutionarily significant unit? Trends in Ecology & Evolution 38(12), 1134.
- HODGINS, K. A., BOCK, D. G., HAHN, M. A., HEREDIA, S. M., TURNER, K. G. & RIESEBERG, L. H. (2015). Comparative genomics in the Asteraceae reveals little evidence for parallel evolutionary change in invasive taxa. *Molecular Ecology* 24(9), 2226–2240.
- \*HOFMEISTER, N. R., WERNER, S. J. & LOVETTE, I. J. (2021). Environmental correlates of genetic variation in the invasive European starling in North America. *Molecular Ecology* **30**(5), 1251–1263.
- HU, J., CHEN, B. & LI, Z. (2014). Thermal plasticity is related to the hardening response of heat shock protein expression in two *Bactrocera* fruit flies. *Journal of Insect Physiology* 67, 105–113.
- HÜBNER, S., SISOU, D., MANDEL, T., TODESCO, M., MATZRAFI, M. & EIZENBERG, H. (2022). Wild sunflower goes viral: citizen science and comparative genomics allow tracking the origin and establishment of invasive sunflower in the Levant. *Molecular Ecology* **31**(7), 2061–2072.
- \*HUDSON, J., CASTILLA, J. C., TESKE, P. R., BEHEREGARAY, L. B., HAIGH, I. D., MCQUAID, C. D. & RIUS, M. (2021). Genomics-informed models reveal extensive

stretches of coastline under threat by an ecologically dominant invasive species. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 118(23), e2022169118.

- \*HUDSON, J., JOHANNESSON, K., McQUAID, C. D. & RIUS, M. (2020). Secondary contacts and genetic admixture shape colonization by an amphiatlantic epibenthic invertebrate. *Evolutionary Applications* 13(3), 600–612.
- JASPERS, C., EHRLICH, M., PUJOLAR, J. M., KÜNZEL, S., BAYER, T., LIMBORG, M. T., LOMBARD, F., BROWNE, W. E., STEFANOVA, K. & REUSCH, T. B. H. (2021). Invasion genomics uncover contrasting scenarios of genetic diversity in a widespread marine invader. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 118(51), c2116211118.
- JEFFERY, N. W., DIBACCO, C., VAN WYNGAARDEN, M., HAMILTON, L. C., STANLEY, R. R. E., BERNIER, R., FITZGERALD, J., MATHESON, K., MCKENZIE, C. H., NADUKKALAM RAVINDRAN, P., BEIKO, R. & BRADBURY, I. R. (2017a). RAD sequencing reveals genomewide divergence between independent invasions of the European green crab (*Carcinus maenas*) in the Northwest Atlantic. *Ecology and Evolution* 7(8), 2513–2524.
- \*JEFFERY, N. W., DIBACCO, C., WRINGE, B. F., STANLEY, R. R. E., HAMILTON, L. C., RAVINDRAN, P. N. & BRADBURY, I. R. (2017b). Genomic evidence of hybridization between two independent invasions of European green crab (*Carcinus maenas*) in the Northwest Atlantic. *Heredity* 119(3), 154.
- JESCHKE, J. M. (2014). General hypotheses in invasion ecology. Diversity and Distributions 20(11), 1229–1234.
- KIRKPATRICK, M. & BARRETT, B. (2015). Chromosome inversions, adaptive cassettes and the evolution of species' ranges. *Molecular Ecology* 24(9), 2046.
- KOCH, J. B., DUPUIS, J. R., JARDELEZA, M.-K., OUEDRAOGO, N., GEIB, S. M., FOLLETT, P. A. & PRICE, D. K. (2020). Population genomic and phenotype diversity of invasive Drosophila suzukii in Hawai'i. Biological Invasions 22(5), 1753–1770.
- KONOPIŃSKI, M. K., FIJARCZYK, A. M. & BIEDRZYCKA, A. (2023). Complex patterns shape immune genes diversity during invasion of common raccoon in Europe – selection in action despite genetic drift. *Evolutionary Applications* 16(1), 134–151.
- KONOROV, E. A., YURCHENKO, V., PATRAMAN, I., LUKASHEV, A. & OYUN, N. (2021). The effects of genetic drift and genomic selection on differentiation and local adaptation of the introduced populations of *Aedes albopictus* in southern Russia. *Peer***7**9, c11776.
- KOTSAKIOZI, P., RICHARDSON, J. B., PICHLER, V., FAVIA, G., MARTINS, A. J., URBANELLI, S., ARMBRUSTER, P. A. & CACCONE, A. (2017). Population genomics of the Asian tiger mosquito, *Aedes albopictus*: insights into the recent worldwide invasion. *Ecology and Evolution* 7(23), 10143–10157.
- KRAMER, I. M., PFENNINGER, M., FELDMEYER, B., DHIMAL, M., GAUTAM, I., SHRESHTA, P., BARAL, S., PHUYAL, P., HARTKE, J., MAGDEBURG, A., GRONEBERG, D. A., AHRENS, B., MÜLLER, R. & WALDVOGEL, A.-M. (2023). Genomic profiling of climate adaptation in *Aedes aegypti* along an altitudinal gradient in Nepal indicates nongradual expansion of the disease vector. *Molecular Ecology* 32(2), 350–368.
- KREHENWINKEL, H., RÖDDER, D. & TAUTZ, D. (2015). Eco-genomic analysis of the poleward range expansion of the wasp spider *Argiope bruennichi* shows rapid adaptation and genomic admixture. *Global Change Biology* 21(12), 4320–4332.
- KRZEMIŃSKA, U., MORALES, H. E., GREENING, C., NYÁRI, Á. S., WILSON, R., SONG, B. K., AUSTIN, C. M., SUNNUCKS, P., PAVLOVA, A. & RAHMAN, S. (2018). Population mitogenomics provides insights into evolutionary history, source of invasions and diversifying selection in the House Crow (*Corvus splendens*). *Heredity* 120(4), 296–309.
- LACY, R. C. & BALLOU, J. D. (1998). Effectiveness of selection in reducing the genetic load in populations of *Peronyscus polionotus* during generations of inbreeding. *Evolution; International Journal of Organic Evolution* 52(3), 900.
- LANDE, R. & SHANNON, S. (1996). The role of genetic variation in adaptation and population persistence in a changing environment. *Evolution* 50(1), 434–437.
- LÁRUSON, Á. J., YEAMAN, S. & LOTTERHOS, K. E. (2020). The importance of genetic redundancy in evolution. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **35**(9), 809.
- LEE, C. E. (2002). Evolutionary genetics of invasive species. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 17(8), 386–391.
- LEE, C. E. (2016). Evolutionary mechanisms of habitat invasions, using the copepod *Eurytemora affinis* as a model system. *Evolutionary Applications* **9**(1), 248.
- LEE, C. E. & GELEMBIUK, G. W. (2008). Evolutionary origins of invasive populations. Evolutionary Applications 1(3), 427–448.
- LEE, C. C. & WANG, J. (2018). Rapid expansion of a highly germline-expressed mariner element acquired by horizontal transfer in the fire ant genome. *Genome Biology and Evolution* 10(12), 3262–3278.
- \*LEE, S. R. & SON, D. C. (2022). Genetic diversity pattern reveals the primary determinant of burcucumber (*Sicyus angulatus* L.) invasion in Korea. *Frontiers in Plant Science* 13, 997521. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2022.997521.
- \*LEE, Y., SCHMIDT, H., COLLIER, T. C., CONNER, W. R., HANEMAAIJER, M. J., SLATKIN, M., MARSHALL, J. M., CHIU, J. C., SMARTT, C. T., LANZARO, G. C., MULLIGAN, F. S. & CORNEL, A. J. (2019). Genome-wide divergence among invasive populations of *Aedes aegypti* in California. *BMC Genomics* 20(1), 204.

Biological Reviews (2025) 000-000 © 2025 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- \*LEHNERT, S. J., DIBACCO, C., JEFFERY, N. W., BLAKESLEE, A. M. H., ISAKSSON, J., ROMAN, J., WRINGE, B. F., STANLEY, R. R. E., MATHESON, K., MCKENZIE, C. H., HAMILTON, L. C. & BRADBURY, I. R. (2018). Temporal dynamics of genetic clines of invasive European green crab (*Carcinus maenas*) in eastern North America. *Evolutionary Applications* 11(9), 1656–1670.
- LEYDET, K. P., GRUPSTRA, C. G. B., COMA, R., RIBES, M. & HELLBERG, M. E. (2018). Host-targeted RAD-Seq reveals genetic changes in the coral *Oculina patagonica* associated with range expansion along the Spanish Mediterranean coast. *Molecular Ecology* 27(11), 2529–2543.
- LIN, Y., CHEN, Y., YI, C., FONG, J. J., KIM, W., RIUS, M. & ZHAN, A. (2017). Genetic signatures of natural selection in a model invasive ascidian. *Scientific Reports* 7(1), 44080.
- LIU, B., YAN, J., LI, W., YIN, L., LI, P., YU, H., XING, L., CAI, M., WANG, H., ZHAO, M., ZHENG, J., SUN, F., WANG, Z., JIANG, Z., OU, Q., *ET AL.* (2020a). *Mikania micrantha* genome provides insights into the molecular mechanism of rapid growth. *Nature Communications* 11(1), 340.
- LIU, C., ZHANG, Y., REN, Y., WANG, H., LI, S., JIANG, F., YIN, L., QIAO, X., ZHANG, G., QIAN, W., LIU, B. & FAN, W. (2018). The genome of the golden apple snail *Pomacea canaliculata* provides insight into stress tolerance and invasive adaptation. *GigaScience* 7(9), giy101.
- LIU, G., ZHANG, H., ZHANG, C. & ZHANG, H. (2020b). Evolutionary history of the tolllike receptor gene family across Vertebrates. *Genome Biology and Evolution* 12(1), 3615.
- LIU, Y., HENKEL, J., BEAUREPAIRE, A., EVANS, J. D., NEUMANN, P. & HUANG, Q. (2021). Comparative genomics suggests local adaptations in the invasive small hive beetle. *Ecology and Evolution* 11(22), 15780–15791.
- LIU, Z., XING, L., HUANG, W., LIU, B., WAN, F., RAFFA, K. F., HOFSTETTER, R. W., QIAN, W. & SUN, J. (2022). Chromosome-level genome assembly and population genomic analyses provide insights into adaptive evolution of the red turpentine beetle, Dendroctonus valens. *BMC Biology* 20(1), 190.
- LIU, Z., SUN, C., QU, L., WANG, K. & YANG, N. (2016). Genome-wide detection of selective signatures in chicken through high density SNPs. *PLoS One* 11(11), c0166146.
- LOTTERHOS, K. E. & WHITLOCK, M. C. (2014). Evaluation of demographic history and neutral parameterization on the performance of FST outlier tests. *Molecular Ecology* 23(9), 9.
- MA, L., CAO, L.-J., HOFFMANN, A. A., GONG, Y.-J., CHEN, J.-C., CHEN, H.-S., WANG, X.-B., ZENG, A.-P., WEI, S.-J. & ZHOU, Z.-S. (2020). Rapid and strong population genetic differentiation and genomic signatures of climatic adaptation in an invasive mealybug. *Diversity and Distributions* 26(5), 610–622.
- MACK, R. N., SIMBERLOFF, D., MARK LONSDALE, W., EVANS, H., CLOUT, M. & BAZZAZ, F. A. (2000). Biotic invasions: causes, epidemiology, global consequences, and control. *Ecological Applications* 10(3), 689–710.
- MARSICO, T. D., BURT, J. W., ESPELAND, E. K., GILCHRIST, G. W., JAMIESON, M. A., LINDSTRÖM, L., RODERICK, G. K., SWOPE, S., SZŰCS, M. & TSUTSUI, N. D. (2010). PERSPECTIVE: underutilized resources for studying the evolution of invasive species during their introduction, establishment, and lag phases. *Evolutionary Applications* 3(2), 203–219.
- \*MARIN, P., JAQUET, A., PICARLE, J., FABLET, M., MEREL, V., DELIGNETTE-MULLER, M.-L., FERRARINI, M. G., GIBERT, P. & VIEIRA, C. (2021). Phenotypic and transcriptomic responses to stress differ according to population geography in an invasive species. *Genome Biology and Evolution* 13(9), evab208.
- MARTIN, M. D., OLSEN, M. T., SAMANIEGO, J. A., ZIMMER, E. A. & GILBERT, M. T. P. (2016). The population genomic basis of geographic differentiation in North American common ragweed (*Ambrosia artemisijfolia* L.). *Ecology and Evolution* 6(11), 3760–3771.
- MATHESON, P. & MCGAUGHRAN, A. (2022). Genomic data is missing for many highly invasive species, restricting our preparedness for escalating incursion rates. *Scientific Reports* 12(1), 18937.
- McGaughran, A., Dhami, M. K., Parvizi, E., Vaughan, A. L., Gleeson, D. M., Hodgins, K. A., Rollins, L. A., Tepolt, C. K., Turner, K. G., Atsawawaranunt, K., Battlay, P., Congrains, C., Crottini, A., Dennis, T. P. W., Lange, C., *et al.* (2024). Genomic tools in biological invasions: current state and future frontiers. *Genome Biology and Evolution* 16(1), evad230.
- MERILÄ, J. & HENDRY, A. P. (2014). Climate change, adaptation, and phenotypic plasticity: the problem and the evidence. *Evolutionary Applications* 7(1), 1–14.
- MÉREL, V., GIBERT, P., BUCH, I., RODRIGUEZ RADA, V., ESTOUP, A., GAUTIER, M., FABLET, M., BOULESTEIX, M. & VIEIRA, C. (2021). The worldwide invasion of *Drosophila suzukii* is accompanied by a large increase of transposable element load and a small number of putatively adaptive insertions. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 38(10), 4252–4267.
- MITTAN-MOREAU, C. S., KELEHEAR, C., TOLEDO, L. F., BACON, J., GUAYASAMIN, J. M., SNYDER, A. & ZAMUDIO, K. R. (2022). Cryptic lineages and standing genetic variation across independent cane toad introductions. *Molecular Ecology* 31(24), 6440–6456.
- MOLNAR, J. L., GAMBOA, R. L., REVENGA, C. & SPALDING, M. D. (2008). Assessing the global threat of invasive species to marine biodiversity. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 6(9), 485–492.

- MORAN, E. V. & ALEXANDER, J. M. (2014). Evolutionary responses to global change: lessons from invasive species. *Ecology Letters* 17(5), 637–649.
- MULARO, A. J., BERNAL, X. E. & DEWOODY, J. A. (2022). Dominance can increase genetic variance after a population bottleneck: a synthesis of the theoretical and empirical evidence. *Journal of Heredity* 113(3), 257–271.
- NARUM, S. R., GALLARDO, P., CORREA, C., MATALA, A., HASSELMAN, D., SUTHERLAND, B. J. G. & BERNATCHEZ, L. (2017). Genomic patterns of diversity and divergence of two introduced salmonid species in Patagonia, South America. *Evolutionary Applications* 10(4), 402–416.
- NEI, M., MARUYAMA, T. & CHAKRABORTY, R. (1975). The bottleneck effect and genetic variability in populations. *Evolution; International Journal of Organic Evolution* 29(1), 1.
- NGUYEN, D., RIEU, I., MARIANI, C. & VAN DAM, N. M. (2016). How plants handle multiple stresses: hormonal interactions underlying responses to abiotic stress and insect herbivory. *Plant Molecular Biology* **91**(6), 727–740.
- NI, P., LI, S., LIN, Y., XIONG, W., HUANG, X. & ZHAN, A. (2018). Methylation divergence of invasive Ciona ascidians: significant population structure and local environmental influence. *Ecology and Evolution*, 8(20), 10272–10287.
- NORTH, H. L., MCGAUGHRAN, A. & JIGGINS, C. D. (2021). Insights into invasive species from whole-genome resequencing. *Molecular Ecology* **30**(23), 6289–6308.
- \*NørGAARD, L. S., MIKKELSEN, D. M. G., ELMEROS, M., CHRIÉL, M., MADSEN, A. B., NIELSEN, J. L., PERTOLDI, C., RANDI, E., FICKEL, J., BRYGIDA, S. & RUIZ-GONZÁLEZ, A. (2017). Population genomics of the raccoon dog (*Nyctereules procyonoides*) in Denmark: insights into invasion history and population development. *Biological Invasions* 19(5), 1637–1652.
- OGGENFUSS, U., BADET, T., WICKER, T., HARTMANN, F. E., SINGH, N. K., ABRAHAM, L., KARISTO, P., VONLANTHEN, T., MUNDT, C., MCDONALD, B. A. & CROLL, D. (2021). A population-level invasion by transposable elements triggers genome expansion in a fungal pathogen. *eLife* 10, e69249.
- OH, D., KOWALSKI, K. P., QUACH, Q. N., WIJESINGHEGE, C., TANFORD, P., DASSANAYAKE, M. & CLAY, K. (2022). Novel genome characteristics contribute to the invasiveness of *Phragmites australis* (common reed). *Molecular Ecology* **31**(4), 1142– 1159.
- \*OLAZCUAGA, L., LOISEAU, A., PARRINELLO, H., PARIS, M., FRAIMOUT, A., GUEDOT, C., DIEPENBROCK, L. M., KENIS, M., ZHANG, J., CHEN, X., BOROWIEC, N., FACON, B., VOGT, H., PRICE, D. K., VOGEL, H., *ET AL.* (2020). A whole-genome scan for association with invasion success in the fruit fly *Drosophila suzukii* using contrasts of allele frequencies corrected for population structure. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **37**(8), 2369–2385.
- ORR, H. A. (2005). The genetic theory of adaptation: a brief history. Nature Reviews Genetics 6(2), 127.
- \*ORTEGO, J., CÉSPEDES, V., MILLÁN, A. & GREEN, A. J. (2021). Genomic data support multiple introductions and explosive demographic expansions in a highly invasive aquatic insect. *Molecular Ecology* **30**(17), 4189–4203.
- PAPANICOLAOU, A., SCHETELIG, M. F., ARENSBURGER, P., ATKINSON, P. W., BENOIT, J. B., BOURTZIS, K., CASTAÑERA, P., CAVANAUGH, J. P., CHAO, H., CHILDERS, C., CURRIL, I., DINH, H., DODDAPANENI, H., DOLAN, A., DUGAN, S., *ET AL.* (2016). The whole genome sequence of the Mediterranean fruit fly, *Cratilis capitala* (Wiedemann), reveals insights into the biology and adaptive evolution of a highly invasive pest species. *Genome Biology* 17(1), 192.
- PARKER, J. D., TORCHIN, M. E., HUFBAUER, R. A., LEMOINE, N. P., ALBA, C., BLUMENTHAL, D. M., BOSSDORF, O., BYERS, J. E., DUNN, A. M., HECKMAN, R. W., HEJDA, M., JAROŠÍK, V., KANAREK, A. R., MARTIN, L. B., PERKINS, S. E., *ET AL.* (2013). Do invasive species perform better in their new ranges? *Ecology* 94(5), 985–994.
- PARVIZI, E., DHAMI, M. K., YAN, J. & MCGAUGHRAN, A. (2023). Population genomic insights into invasion success in a polyphagous agricultural pest, Halyomorpha halys. *Molecular Ecology* 32(1), 138–151.
- \*PEARCE, S. L., CLARKE, D. F., EAST, P. D., ELFEKIH, S., GORDON, K. H. J., JERMIIN, L. S., MCGAUGHRAN, A., OAKESHOTT, J. G., PAPANIKOLAOU, A., PERERA, O. P., RANE, R. V., RICHARDS, S., TAY, W. T., WALSH, T. K., ANDERSON, A., *ET AL.* (2017). Genomic innovations, transcriptional plasticity and gene loss underlying the evolution and divergence of two highly polyphagous and invasive *Helicoverpa* pest species. *BMC Biology* 15(1), 63.
- PÉLISSIÉ, B., CROSSLEY, M. S., COHEN, Z. P. & SCHOVILLE, S. D. (2018). Rapid evolution in insect pests: the importance of space and time in population genomics studies. *Current Opinion in Insect Science* 26, 8–16.
- PÉREZ-PORTELA, R., BUMFORD, A., COFFMAN, B., WEDELICH, S., DAVENPORT, M., FOGG, A., SWENARTON, M. K., COLEMAN, F., JOHNSTON, M. A., CRAWFORD, D. L. & OLEKSLAK, M. F. (2018). Genetic homogeneity of the invasive lionfish across the Northwestern Atlantic and the Gulf of Mexico based on single nucleotide polymorphisms. *Scientific Reports* 8(1) 1, 5062. https://doi.org/10. 1038/s41598-018-23339-w.
- POPOVIC, I., BIERNE, N., GAITI, F., TANURDZIĆ, M. & RIGINOS, C. (2021). Preintroduction introgression contributes to parallel differentiation and contrasting

Biological Reviews (2025) 000-000 © 2025 The Author(s). Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

hybridization outcomes between invasive and native marine mussels. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* **34**(1), 175–192.

- POPOVIC, I. & RIGINOS, C. (2020). Comparative genomics reveals divergent thermal selection in warm- and cold-tolerant marine mussels. *Molecular Ecology* 29(3), 519–535.
- PROMY, N. T., NEWBERRY, M. & GULISIJA, D. (2023). Rapid evolution of phenotypic plasticity in patchy habitats. *Scientific Reports* **13**(1), 1.
- \*PUCKETT, E. E., PARK, J., COMBS, M., BLUM, M. J., BRYANT, J. E., CACCONE, A., COSTA, F., DEINUM, E. E., ESTHER, A., HIMSWORTH, C. G., KEIGHTLEY, P. D., KO, A., LUNDKVIST, Å., MCELHINNEY, L. M., MORAND, S., *ET AL.* (2016). Global population divergence and admixture of the brown rat (*Rattus norvegicus*). *Proceedings* of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 283(1841), 20161762.
- PYŠEK, P., SKÁLOVÁ, H., CUDA, J., GUO, W.-Y., SUDA, J., DOLEZAL, J., KAUZÁL, O., LAMBERTINI, C., LUČANOVÁ, M., MANDÁKOVÁ, T., MORAVCOVÁ, L., PYŠKOVÁ, K., BRIX, H. & MEYERSON, L. A. (2018). Small genome separates native and invasive populations in an ecologically important cosmopolitan grass. *Ecology* **99**(1), 79–90.
- QIAN, Z., LI, Y., YANG, J., SHI, T., LI, Z. & CHEN, J. (2022). The chromosome-level genome of a free-floating aquatic weed *Pistia stratiotes* provides insights into its rapid invasion. *Molecular Ecology Resources* 22(7), 2732–2743.
- RISPE, C., LEGEAI, F., NABITY, P. D., FERNÁNDEZ, R., ARORA, A. K., BAA-PUYOULET, P., BANFILL, C. R., BAO, L., BARBERÀ, M., BOUALLÈGUE, M., BRETAUDEAU, A., BRISSON, J. A., CALEVRO, F., CAPY, P., CATRICE, O., *ET AL.* (2020). The genome sequence of the grape *Phylloxera* provides insights into the evolution, adaptation, and invasion routes of an iconic pest. *BMC Biology* 18(1), 90.
- RIUS, M., BOURNE, S., HORNSBY, H. G. & CHAPMAN, M. A. (2015). Applications of next-generation sequencing to the study of biological invasions. *Current Zoology* 61(3), 3.
- ROE, A. D., TORSON, A. S., BILODEAU, G., BILODEAU, P., BLACKBURN, G. S., CUI, M., CUSSON, M., DOUCET, D., GRIESS, V. C., LAFOND, V., PARADIS, G., PORTH, I., PRUNIER, J., SRIVASTAVA, V., TREMBLAY, E., *ET AL.* (2019). Biosurveillance of forest insects: part I—integration and application of genomic tools to the surveillance of non-native forest insects. *Journal of Pest Science* 92(1), 51–70.
- \*ROGÉRIO, F., VAN OOSTERHOUT, C., CIAMPI-GUILLARDI, M., CORRER, F. H., HOSAKA, G. K., CROS-ARTEIL, S., RODRIGUES ALVES MARGARIDO, G., MASSOLA JÚNIOR, N. S. & GLADIEUX, P. (2023). Means, motive and opportunity for biological invasions: genetic introgression in a fungal pathogen. *Molecular Ecology* 32(10), 2428–2442.
- ROLLINS, L. A., MOLES, A. T., LAM, S., BUITENWERF, R., BUSWELL, J. M., BRANDENBURGER, C. R., FLORES-MORENO, H., NIELSEN, K. B., COUCHMAN, E., BROWN, G. S., THOMSON, F. J., HEMMINGS, F., FRANKHAM, R. & SHERWIN, W. B. (2013). High genetic diversity is not essential for successful introduction. *Ecology and Evolution* 3(13), 4501–4517.
- ROMAN, J. & DARLING, J. A. (2007). Paradox lost: genetic diversity and the success of aquatic invasions. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 22(9), 454.
- ROSENTHAL, W. C., MCINTYRE, P. B., LISI, P. J., PRATHER, R. B. JR., MOODY, K. N., BLUM, M. J., HOGAN, J. D. & SCHOVILLE, S. D. (2021). Invasion and rapid adaptation of guppies (*Poecilia reticulata*) across the Hawaiian Archipelago. *Evolutionary Applications* 14(7), 1747–1761.
- ROSINGER, H. S., GERALDES, A., NURKOWSKI, K. A., BATTLAY, P., COUSENS, R. D., RIESEBERG, L. H. & HODGINS, K. A. (2021). The tip of the iceberg: genome wide marker analysis reveals hidden hybridization during invasion. *Molecular Ecology* 30(3), 810–825.
- SALOJÄRVI, J. (2019). Computational tools for population genomics. In *Population genomics: Concepts, Approaches and Applications* (ed. O. P. RAJORA), pp. 127–160. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing.
- \*SCHMIDT, T. L., CHUNG, J., HONNEN, A.-C., WEEKS, A. R. & HOFFMANN, A. A. (2020). Population genomics of two invasive mosquitoes (*Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus*) from the Indo-Pacific. *PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases* 14(7), e0008463.
- SCHWENSOW, N. I., DETERING, H., PEDERSON, S., MAZZONI, C., SINCLAIR, R., PEACOCK, D., KOVALISKI, J., COOKE, B., FICKEL, J. & SOMMER, S. (2017). Resistance to RHD virus in wild Australian rabbits: comparison of susceptible and resistant individuals using a genomewide approach. *Molecular Ecology* 26(17), 4551– 4561.
- SEEBENS, H., BLACKBURN, T. M., DYER, E. E., GENOVESI, P., HULME, P. E., JESCHKE, J. M., PAGAD, S., PYŠEK, P., WINTER, M., ARIANOUTSOU, M., BACHER, S., BLASIUS, B., BRUNDU, G., CAPINHA, C., CELESTI-GRAPOW, L., *ET AL.* (2017). No saturation in the accumulation of alien species worldwide. *Nature Communications* 8(1), 14435.
- SELECHNIK, D., RICHARDSON, M. F., SHINE, R., DEVORE, J. L., DUCATEZ, S. & ROLLINS, L. A. (2019). Increased adaptive variation despite reduced overall genetic diversity in a rapidly adapting invader. *Frontiers in Genetics* 10, 1221.
- \*SHAW, E. C., FOWLER, R., OHADI, S., BAYLY, M. J., BARRETT, R. A., TIBBITS, J., STRAND, A., WILLIS, C. G., DONOHUE, K., ROBECK, P. & COUSENS, R. D. (2021). Explaining the worldwide distributions of two highly mobile species: *Cakile edentula* and *Cakile maritima. Journal of Biogeography* **48**(3), 603–615.

- \*SHEN, J., WANG, Z., SU, Y. & WANG, T. (2021). Associations between population epigenetic differentiation and environmental factors in the exotic weed milea-minute (*Mikania micrantha*). Weed Science 69(3), 307–332.
- \*SHERPA, S., BLUM, M. G. B., CAPBLANCQ, T., CUMER, T., RIOUX, D. & DESPRÉS, L. (2019a). Unravelling the invasion history of the Asian tiger mosquito in Europe. *Molecular Ecology* 28(9), 2360–2377.
- SHERPA, S., BLUM, M. G. B. & DESPRÉS, L. (2019b). Cold adaptation in the Asian tiger mosquito's native range precedes its invasion success in temperate regions. *Evolution* 73(9), 1793–1808.
- SHERPA, S., GUÉGUEN, M., RENAUD, J., BLUM, M. G. B., GAUDE, T., LAPORTE, F., AKINER, M., ALTEN, B., ARANDA, C., BARRE-CARDI, H., BELLINI, R., BENGOA PAULIS, M., CHEN, X.-G., ERITJA, R., FLACIO, E., *ET AL.* (2019c). Predicting the success of an invader: niche shift versus niche conservatism. *Ecology and Evolution* 9(22), 12658–12675.
- SHERPA, S., RIOUX, D., GOINDIN, D., FOUQUE, F., FRANÇOIS, O. & DESPRÉS, L. (2018). At the origin of a worldwide invasion: unravelling the genetic makeup of the Caribbean bridgehead populations of the dengue vector Aedes aegypti. Genome Biology and Evolution 10(1), 56–71.
- SKREDE, I., MURAT, C., HESS, J., MAURICE, S., SØNSTEBØ, J. H., KOHLER, A., BARRY-ETIENNE, D., EASTWOOD, D., HÖGBERG, N., MARTIN, F. & KAUSERUD, H. (2021). Contrasting demographic histories revealed in two invasive populations of the dry rot fungus *Serpula lacrymans*. *Molecular Ecology* **30**(12), 2772– 2789.
- SOTKA, E. E., BAUMGARDNER, A. W., BIPPUS, P. M., DESTOMBE, C., DUERMIT, E. A., ENDO, H., FLANAGAN, B. A., KAMIYA, M., LEES, L. E., MURREN, C. J., NAKAOKA, M., SHAINKER, S. J., STRAND, A. E., TERADA, R., VALERO, M., *ET AL.* (2018). Combining niche shift and population genetic analyses predicts rapid phenotypic evolution during invasion. *Evolutionary Applications* 11(5), 781.
- SPARKS, J. T. & DICKENS, J. C. (2017). Mini review: gustatory reception of chemicals affecting host feeding in aedine mosquitoes. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology* 142, 15–20.
- STERN, D. B. & LEE, C. E. (2020). Evolutionary origins of genomic adaptations in an invasive copepod. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 4(8), 1084–1094.
- SULTAN, S. E., HORGAN-KOBELSKI, T., NICHOLS, L. M., RIGGS, C. E. & WAPLES, R. K. (2013). A resurrection study reveals rapid adaptive evolution within populations of an invasive plant. *Evolutionary Applications* 6(2), 266.
- \*TAY, W. T., RANE, R. V., PADOVAN, A., WALSH, T. K., ELFEKIH, S., DOWNES, S., NAM, K., D'ALENÇON, E., ZHANG, J., WU, Y., NÈGRE, N., KUNZ, D., KRITICOS, D. J., CZEPAK, C., OTIM, M. H. & GORDON, K. H. J. (2022). Global population genomic signature of *Spodoptera frugiperda* (fall armyworm) supports complex introduction events across the Old World. *Communications Biology* 5(1), 297.
- TAYLOR, P. J., DOWNS, S., MONADJEM, A., EISEB, S. J., MULUNGU, L. S., MASSAWE, A. W., MAHLABA, T. A., KIRSTEN, F., MALTITZ, E. V., MALEBANE, P., MAKUNDI, R. H., LAMB, J. & BELMAIN, S. R. (2012). Experimental treatment-control studies of ecologically based rodent management in Africa: balancing conservation and pest management. *Wildlife Research* 39(1), 51–61.
- TEPOLT, C. K. (2015). Adaptation in marine invasion: a genetic perspective. Biological Invasions 17(3), 3.
- \*TEPOLT, C. K. & PALUMBI, S. R. (2015). Transcriptome sequencing reveals both neutral and adaptive genome dynamics in a marine invader. *Molecular Ecology* 24(16), 4145–4158.
- TEPOLT, C. K. & PALUMBI, S. R. (2020). Rapid adaptation to temperature via a potential genomic Island of divergence in the invasive green crab, *Carcinus maenas*. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 8, 580701. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2020. 580701.
- TEPOLT, C. K., GROSHOLZ, E. D., DE RIVERA, C. E. & RUIZ, G. M. (2022). Balanced polymorphism fuels rapid selection in an invasive crab despite high gene flow and low genetic diversity. *Molecular Ecology* **31**(1), 55–69.
- TESHIMA, K. M., COOP, G. & PRZEWORSKI, M. (2006). How reliable are empirical genomic scans for selective sweeps? *Genome Research* 16(6), 702–712.
- THEISSINGER, K., FERNANDES, C., FORMENTI, G., BISTA, I., BERG, P. R., BLEIDORN, C., BOMBARELY, A., CROTTINI, A., GALLO, G. R., GODOY, J. A., JENTOFT, S., MALUKIEWICZ, J., MOUTON, A., OOMEN, R. A., PAEZ, S. & *et al.* (2023). How genomics can help biodiversity conservation. *Trends in Genetics* **39**(7), 545–559.
- \*THRIMAWITHANA, A. H., WU, C., CHRISTELLER, J. T., SIMPSON, R. M., HILARIO, E., TOOMAN, L. K., BEGUM, D., JORDAN, M. D., CROWHURST, R., NEWCOMB, R. D. & GRAPPUTO, A. (2022). The genomics and population genomics of the light brown apple moth, *Epiphyas postvittana*, an invasive tortricid pest of horticulture. *Insects* 13(3), 264. https://doi.org/10.3390/insects13030264.
- TIAN, L., SONG, T., HE, R., ZENG, Y., XIE, W., WU, Q., WANG, S., ZHOU, X. & ZHANG, Y. (2017). Genome-wide analysis of ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters in the sweetpotato whitefly, Bemisia tabaci. *BMC Genomics* 18(1), 330.

- \*TOBIAS, P. A., SCHWESSINGER, B., DENG, C. H., WU, C., DONG, C., SPERSCHNEIDER, J., JONES, A., LUO, Z., ZHANG, P., SANDHU, K., SMITH, G. R., TIBBITS, J., CHAGNÉ, D. & PARK, R. F. (2021). Austropuccinia psidii, causing myrtle rust, has a gigabase-sized genome shaped by transposable elements. G3 Genes Genomes Genetics 11(3), jkaa015.
- TRAVIS, J. M. J. & TRAVIS, E. R. (2002). Mutator dynamics in fluctuating environments. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences 269(1491), 591–597.
- \*TRUCCHI, E., FACON, B., GRATTON, P., MORI, E., STENSETH, N. C. & JENTOFT, S. (2016). Long live the alien: is high genetic diversity a pivotal aspect of crested porcupine (*Hystrix cristata*) long-lasting and successful invasion? *Molecular Ecology* 25(15), 3527–3539.
- TURELLI, M. & BARTON, N. H. (2006). Will population bottlenecks and multilocus epistasis increase additive genetic variance? *Evolution; International Journal of Organic Evolution* **60**(9), 1763–1776.
- ULLER, T. & LEIMU, R. (2011). Founder events predict changes in genetic diversity during human-mediated range expansions. *Global Change Biology* 17(11), 11.
- VALENCIA-MONTOYA, W. A., ELFEKIH, S., NORTH, H. L., MEIER, J. I., WARREN, I. A., TAY, W. T., GORDON, K. H. J., SPECHT, A., PAULA-MORAES, S. V., RANE, R., WALSH, T. K. & JIGGINS, C. D. (2020). Adaptive introgression across semipermeable species boundaries between local *Helicoverpa zea* and invasive *Helicoverpa armigera* moths. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 37(9), 2568– 2583.
- \*VALLEJO-MARÍN, M., FRIEDMAN, J., TWYFORD, A. D., LEPAIS, O., ICKERT-BOND, S. M., STREISFELD, M. A., YANT, L., VAN KLEUNEN, M., ROTTER, M. C. & PUZEY, J. R. (2021). Population genomic and historical analysis suggests a global invasion by bridgehead processes in *Minulus guttatus*. *Communications Biology* 4(1), 327.
- VAN BOHEEMEN, L. Å. & HODGINS, K. A. (2020). Rapid repeatable phenotypic and genomic adaptation following multiple introductions. *Molecular Ecology* 29(21), 4102.
- \*VAN BOHEEMEN, L. A., LOMBAERT, E., NURKOWSKI, K. A., GAUFFRE, B., RIESEBERG, L. H. & HODGINS, K. A. (2017). Multiple introductions, admixture and bridgehead invasion characterize the introduction history of *Ambrosia* artemisiifolia in Europe and Australia. *Molecular Ecology* 26(20), 5421–5434.
- VANDEPITTE K. DE MEYER T. HELSEN K. VAN ACKER K. ROLDÁN-RUIZ I. MERGEAY J. HONNAY O. 2014 Rapid genetic adaptation precedes the spread of an exotic plant species *Molecular Ecology*, 23(9), 2157
- \*VAN WALLENDAEL, A., ALVAREZ, M. & FRANKS, S. J. (2021). Patterns of population genomic diversity in the invasive Japanese knotweed species complex. *American Journal of Botany* **108**(5), 857–868.
- \*VAVASSORI, L., HONNEN, A.-C., SAARMAN, N., CACCONE, A. & MÜLLER, P. (2022). Multiple introductions and overwintering shape the progressive invasion of *Aedes albopictus* beyond the Alps. *Ecology and Evolution* **12**(7), e9138.
- VERA, M., DÍEZ-DEL-MOLINO, D. & GARCÍA-MARÍN, J.-L. (2016). Genomic survey provides insights into the evolutionary changes that occurred during European expansion of the invasive mosquitofish (*Gambusia holbrooki*). *Molecular Ecology* 25(5), 1089–1105.
- VOGEL, H., SCHMIDTBERG, H. & VILCINSKAS, A. (2017). Comparative transcriptomics in three ladybird species supports a role for immunity in invasion biology. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology* 67, 452–456.
- WAGNER, N. K., OCHOCKI, B. M., CRAWFORD, K. M., COMPAGNONI, A. & MILLER, T. E. X. (2017). Genetic mixture of multiple source populations accelerates invasive range expansion. *The Journal of Animal Ecology* 86(1), 21.
- \*WANG, J., GAUGHAN, S., LAMER, J. T., DENG, C., HU, W., WACHHOLTZ, M., QIN, S., NIE, H., LIAO, X., LING, Q., LI, W., ZHU, L., BERNATCHEZ, L., WANG, C. & LU, G. (2020). Resolving the genetic paradox of invasions: preadapted genomes and postintroduction hybridization of bigheaded carps in the Mississippi River Basin. *Evolutionary Applications* 13(2), 263–277.
- WANG, P., SONG, H., LI, C., LI, P., LI, A., GUAN, H., HOU, L. & WANG, X. (2017). Genome-wide dissection of the heat shock transcription factor family genes in *Arachis. Frontiers in Plant Science* 8, 106.
- WANI, S. H., CHOUDHARY, M., BARMUKH, R., BAGARIA, P. K., SAMANTARA, K., RAZZAQ, A., JABA, J., BA, M. N. & VARSHNEY, R. K. (2022). Molecular mechanisms, genetic mapping, and genome editing for insect pest resistance in field crops. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* 135(11), 3875–3895.

- WEGNER, K. M., LOKMER, A. & JOHN, U. (2020). Genomic and transcriptomic differentiation of independent invasions of the pacific oyster *Crassostrea gigas*. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 8, 567049. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2020. 567049.
- WELLBAND, K. W., PETTITT-WADE, H., FISK, A. T. & HEATH, D. D. (2018). Standing genetic diversity and selection at functional gene loci are associated with differential invasion success in two non-native fish species. *Molecular Ecology* 27(7), 1572–1585.
- WILLI, Y., GRIFFIN, P. & VAN BUSKIRK, J. (2013). Drift load in populations of small size and low density. *Heredity* 110(3), 296–302.
- WILLIAMSON, M. & FITTER, A. (1996). The varying success of invaders. *Ecology* 77(6), 6.
- WOLFF, L. M., BLAIR, A. C. & PENNA, B. M. (2007). Does intraspecific hybridization contribute to the evolution of invasiveness?: an experimental test. *Biological Invasions* 9(5), 5.
- WU, Z., ZHANG, H., BIN, S., CHEN, L., HAN, Q. & LIN, J. (2016). Antennal and abdominal transcriptomes reveal chemosensory genes in the asian citrus psyllid, Diaphorina citri. *PLoS One* 11(7), e0159372.
- WU, N., ZHANG, S., LI, X., CAO, Y., LIU, X., WANG, Q., LIU, Q., LIU, H., HU, X., ZHOU, X. J., JAMES, A. A., ZHANG, Z., HUANG, Y. & ZHAN, S. (2019). Fall webworm genomes yield insights into rapid adaptation of invasive species. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 3(1), 1.
- YANG, F., CROSSLEY, M. S., SCHRADER, L., DUBOVSKIY, I. M., WEI, S.-J. & ZHANG, R. (2022). Polygenic adaptation contributes to the invasive success of the Colorado potato beetle. *Molecular Ecology* **31**(21), 5568–5580.
- YANG, M., HE, Z., HUANG, Y., LU, L., YAN, Y., HONG, L., SHEN, H., LIU, Y., GUO, Q., JIANG, L., ZHANG, Y., GREENBERG, A. J., ZHOU, R., GE, X., WU, C.-I. & SHI, S. (2017). The emergence of the hyperinvasive vine, *Mikania micrantha* (Asteraceae), via admixture and founder events inferred from population transcriptomics. *Molecular Ecology* **26**(13), 3405–3423.
- \*YE, Z., WILLIAMS, E., ZHAO, C., BURNS, C. W. & LYNCH, M. (2021). The rapid, mass invasion of New Zealand by North American Daphnia "pulex". *Limnology and Oceanography* 66(7), 2672–2683.
- YEAMAN, S. & WHITLOCK, M. C. (2011). The genetic architecture of adaptation under migration-selection balance. *Evolution* 65(7), 1897.
- YIN, X., MARTINEZ, A. S., SEPÚLVEDA, M. S. & CHRISTIE, M. R. (2021). Rapid genetic adaptation to recently colonized environments is driven by genes underlying life history traits. *BMC Genomics* 22(1), 269.
- YOSHIDA, K., MIYAGI, R., MORI, S., TAKAHASHI, A., MAKINO, T., TOYODA, A., FUJIYAMA, A. & KITANO, J. (2016). Whole-genome sequencing reveals small genomic regions of introgression in an introduced crater lake population of threespine stickleback. *Ecology and Evolution* 6(7), 2190–2204.
- YUAN, X., JIANG, Y.-D., WANG, G.-Y., YU, H., ZHOU, W.-W., LIU, S., YANG, M.-F., CHENG, J., GURR, G. M., WAY, M. O. & ZHU, Z.-R. (2016). Odorant-binding proteins and chemosensory proteins from an invasive pest *Lissorhoptrus oryzophilus* (Coleoptera: Curculionidae). *Environmental Entomology* 45(5), 1276–1286.
- ZENETOS, A. & GALANIDI, M. (2020). Mediterranean non indigenous species at the start of the 2020s: recent changes. *Marine Biodiversity Records* 13(1), 10.
- ZHANG, W., YU, H., LV, Y., BUSHLEY, K. E., WICKHAM, J. D., GAO, S., HU, S., ZHAO, L. & SUN, J. (2020). Gene family expansion of pinewood nematode to detoxify its host defence chemicals. *Molecular Ecology* 29(5), 940–955.

#### XI. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

#### Appendix S1. Detailed methods.

**Database S1.** Searchable database containing query results.

(Received 12 July 2024; revised 30 January 2025; accepted 31 January 2025)